
Agenda\Planning Applications Committee\7 November 2019
Page 1

Department: Democratic and Electoral Services

Division: Corporate 

Please ask for: Eddie Scott

Direct Tel: 01276 707335

Surrey Heath Borough Council

Surrey Heath House
Knoll Road
Camberley

Surrey GU15 3HD
Telephone: (01276) 707100
Facsimile: (01276) 707177

DX: 32722 Camberley
Web Site: www.surreyheath.gov.uk

E-Mail: democratic.services@surreyheath.gov.uk

Tuesday, 29 October 2019

To: The Members of the Planning Applications Committee
(Councillors: Edward Hawkins (Chairman), Valerie White (Vice Chairman), 
Graham Alleway, Peter Barnett, Cliff Betton, Vivienne Chapman, Sarah Jane Croke, 
Colin Dougan, Shaun Garrett, Sam Kay, David Lewis, Charlotte Morley, Morgan Rise, 
Graham Tapper and Victoria Wheeler)

In accordance with the Substitute Protocol at Part 4 of the Constitution, 
Members who are unable to attend this meeting should give their apologies and 
arrange for one of the appointed substitutes, as listed below, to attend.  
Members should also inform their group leader of the arrangements made.

Substitutes: Councillors Sharon Galliford, Rebecca Jennings-Evans, David Mansfield, 
Emma-Jane McGrath, Sashi Mylvaganam, Darryl Ratiram, Pat Tedder and 
Helen Whitcroft

Site Visits

Members of the Planning Applications Committee and Local Ward Members may 
make a request for a site visit. Requests in writing, explaining the reason for the 
request, must be made to the Development Manager and copied to the Executive 
Head - Regulatory and the Democratic Services Officer by 4pm on the Thursday 
preceding the Planning Applications Committee meeting.

Dear Councillor,

A meeting of the Planning Applications Committee will be held at Council Chamber, 
Surrey Heath House, Knoll Road, Camberley, GU15 3HD on Thursday, 7 November 2019 
at 7.15 pm or on the rising of the preceding meeting of Full Council.  

Please note that this meeting will be recorded.

Yours sincerely

Karen Whelan

Chief Executive

AGENDA
Pages

1 Apologies for Absence  

2 Minutes of Previous Meeting  3 - 10

Public Document Pack



Agenda\Planning Applications Committee\7 November 2019
Page 2

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Planning 
Applications Committee held on 10 October 2019. 

3 Declarations of Interest  

Members are invited to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests and 
non pecuniary interests they may have with respect to matters which are 
to be considered at this meeting.  Members who consider they may have 
an interest are invited to consult the Monitoring Officer or the Democratic 
Services Manager prior to the meeting.

Human Rights Statement

The Human Rights Act 1998 (the Act) has incorporated part of the European
Convention on Human Rights into English law. All planning applications are
assessed to make sure that the subsequent determination of the development
proposal is compatible with the Act. If there is a potential conflict, this will be
highlighted in the report on the relevant item.

Planning Applications

4 Southampton to London Pipeline Development Consent Order  11 - 80

5 Application Number: 19/0665 - Little Rosewarne, 1 Rosewarne 
Gardens, Mytchett, Camberley, GU16 6GT  

81 - 102

6 Application Number: 19/0660 - 15 Red Lion Road, Chobham, Woking, 
GU24 8RG  

103 - 112

Glossary



Minutes\Planning Applications Committee\10 October 2019

Minutes of a Meeting of the Planning 
Applications Committee held at 
Council Chamber, Surrey Heath 
House, Knoll Road, Camberley, GU15 
3HD on 10 October 2019 

+ Cllr Edward Hawkins (Chairman)
+ Cllr Valerie White (Vice Chairman) 

+
+
+
+
+*
+
+

Cllr Graham Alleway
Cllr Peter Barnett
Cllr Cliff Betton
Cllr Vivienne Chapman
Cllr Sarah Jane Croke
Cllr Colin Dougan
Cllr Shaun Garrett

+
-
+
+
+
+

Cllr Sam Kay
Cllr David Lewis
Cllr Charlotte Morley
Cllr Morgan Rise
Cllr Graham Tapper
Cllr Victoria Wheeler

+  Present
-  Apologies for absence presented  

*Councillor Sarah Jane Croke was present midway through minute 12/P

Officers Present: Ross Cahalane, Duncan Carty, Gareth John, Jon Partington 
and Eddie Scott

11/P Minutes of Previous Meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2019 were confirmed and 
signed by the Chairman. 

12/P Application Number: 18/1083 - 42-44 LONDON ROAD, BAGSHOT, GU19 
5HL

The application was for the erection of a part one, two and three storey building, 
partly with accommodation in the roof, to provide 46 extra care apartments 
including associated facilities, car parking and landscaping following the demolition 
of existing buildings. (additional info & plan rec'd 21/01/2019) (Additional 
information recv'd 23/1/19 & 11/03/2019). (Amended plans and information rec'd 
15/07/2019 & 29/07/2019.)

Members were advised of the following updates on the application:

“Update 

10 further objections received which raise the following new issues:

 The amended scheme remains large, overbearing, unattractive, too high, 
and inappropriate to the site resulting in overshadowing of adjoining land.  
Development should be scaled down

 Further archaeological assessment will be needed (past excavations 
uncovered a waterlogged area containing the remains of a 17th century tan 
yard and small finds suggest a prehistoric settlement in the area.  Iron age 

Public Document PackPage 3

Agenda Item 2 



Minutes\Planning Applications Committee\10 October 2019

and Roman iron smelting was carried out in the wider area  (between 
Queens Wood and Lightwater)

 Safety risk for pedestrians using London Road
 Spoiling of an area of natural beauty
 Need for starter homes, help to buy and/or shared ownership schemes 

instead
 Building over sewers
 Loss of view
 Other buildings should have been repurposed instead

1 further letter of support received raising no new issues.

Surrey Wildlife Trust raise no objections subject to condition (see new condition 
below).

The applicant has requested minor amendments to a number of pre-
commencement conditions to adjust the timing of the approval of details pursuant 
to these conditions.  These amendments are considered to be acceptable and the 
amendments set out below.

Further to Paragraph 7.8.2 of the officer report, the NPPF sets out the need for 
more vulnerable development within floodplain 3a to pass the exception test.  In 
the officer’s opinion, the development satisfies the exception test given the wider 
sustainability benefits that outweigh flood risk i.e. the need for such specialist 
accommodation; and, the FRA accounts for climate change with mitigation 
measures for the lifetime of the development secured by condition 5. Moreover, 
only a small part of the site lies within flood zone 3a.  The sequential test is also 
met in that there has been an assessment of 32 alternative sites within the 
Borough and concluded that none of these sites are reasonably available. Subject 
to condition 6 the development would be flood resilient and provide safe access 
and escape routes in accordance with NPPF paragraph 163. 

Corrections (changes in bold)

Recommendation at paragraph 10.0:

GRANT, subject to the completion of a Section 106 legal agreement for the 
restriction of use to Class C2 “Extra Care” residential accommodation and 
provision of SANG and SAMM contributions by 8 November 2019, or any 
longer period as agreed with the Executive Head of Regulatory, and the following 
conditions:-

Amended Conditions (changes in bold)

2 – No construction above ground level shall take place until details and 
samples of the external materials to be used shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Materials to be agreed will include the 
proposed brick, tile, cladding, windows, guttering and fenestration.  
Notwithstanding the approved plans, no windows in the extension shall be 

Page 4



Minutes\Planning Applications Committee\10 October 2019

installed until details have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The details shall include:- 

a) Plans to identify the windows in question and its location(s) within the 
property(ies), cross referenced to an elevation drawing or floor plan for the 
avoidance of doubt; 

b) 1:20 elevation and plan; 

c) 1:10 section with full size glazing bar detail; 

d) the position within the opening (depth of reveal) and method of fixing the glazing 
(putty or beading); and 

e) a schedule of the materials proposed, method of opening, and finishes. 

Thereafter the works shall be carried out in full accordance with the approved 
details and the development shall be maintained as approved in perpetuity.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenities of the area including the adjoining 
Bagshot Village Conservation Area and to accord with Policies DM9 and DM17 of 
the Surrey Heath Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 2012.

4 - The construction above ground level hereby permitted shall not commence 
until details of the design of a surface water drainage scheme have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The design 
must satisfy SuDS hierarchy and be compliant with the national Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for SuDS, National Planning Policy Framework and 
Ministerial Statement on SuDS.   The required drainage details shall include:

a) Evidence that the proposed final solution will effectively manage the 1 in 30 and 
1 in 100 (+40% allowance for climate change) storm events, during all stages of 
the development, associated discharge rates and storage volumes shall be 
provided using a maximum discharge rate of 5 l/s.
b)  Detailed design drawings and calculations to include: a finalised drainage 
layout detailing the location of drainage elements, pipe diameters, levels, and long 
and cross sections of each element including details of any flow restrictions and 
maintenance/risk reducing features (silt traps, inspection chambers, etc.).
c) A plan showing exceedance flows (i.e. during rainfall greater than design events 
or during blockage) and how property on and off site will be protected.
d) Details of drainage management responsibilities and maintenance regime for 
the drainage system.
e) Details of how the drainage system will be protected during construction and 
how runoff (including any pollutants) from the development site will be managed 
before the drainage system is operational.

Reason: To ensure that the design meets the national Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for SuDS and the final drainage design does not increase flood risk on 
and off the site and to comply with Policy DM10 of the Surrey Heath Core Strategy 

Page 5



Minutes\Planning Applications Committee\10 October 2019

and Development Management Policies 2012 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019.

7 – No construction above ground level shall begin until a scheme to deal with 
contamination of the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

The above scheme shall include :-

(a) a contaminated land desk study and suggested site assessment 
methodology;
(b) a site investigation report based upon (a);
(c) a remediation action plan based upon (a) and (b);
(d) a "discovery strategy" dealing with unforeseen contamination 
discovered during construction;
and (e) a "validation strategy" identifying measures to validate the works 
undertaken as a result of (c) and (d)
(f) a verification report appended with substantiating evidence 
demonstrating the agreed remediation has been carried out

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority,   the 
development shall be carried out and completed wholly in accordance with such 
details as may be agreed

Reason: To ensure that a satisfactory strategy is put in place for addressing 
contaminated land, making the land suitable for the development hereby approved 
without resulting in risk to construction workers, future users of the land, occupiers 
of nearby land and the environment generally in accordance with Policies CP2 and 
DM9 of the Surrey Heath Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 
Document 2012 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

8 - No construction above ground level shall take place until the applicant has 
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a Written Scheme of Investigation which has been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of conservation and to comply with Policy DM17 of the 
Surrey Heath Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 2012 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

Additional condition

20 – Details of external lighting shall be submitted to and approved b the Local 
Planning Authority.  Once approved, the external lighting shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved details and implemented prior to first occupation of 
the development and thereafter retained in perpetuity.  The details shall include full 
details of the lighting supports, posts or columns, a plan showing the location of 
the lights and full technical specification.

Page 6



Minutes\Planning Applications Committee\10 October 2019

Reason: in the interests of residential and visual amenities and nature 
conservation and to comply with Policies CP14 and DM9 of the Surrey Heath Core 
Strategy and Development Management Policies 2012.”

Members were also verbally updated that since the writing of the planning updates 
an additional objection had been received in respect of the application’s ecological 
benefits and that the Development should be a C3 Development to help meet local 
housing quotas. 

A further condition, wording to be agreed, was proposed to be added to the Officer 
Report/Update to stipulate compliance with the ecological recommendations in the 
reports provided with the application. 

As the application had triggered the Council’s Public Speaking Scheme, Mr 
Rowland Jowett spoke in objection to the application. Mr Noel Fierz and Mr Ian 
Hann (the agent) spoke in support of the application. 

Members felt the proposal entailed overdevelopment and there were concerns in 
respect of the scale, dormer design and density of the proposed building given the 
proximity of the Bagshot Village Conservation Area. 

Concerns also emanated from the perceived scale and overbearing impact of the 
proposal and its impact on Half Moon Street and London Road, and the scheme’s 
perceived lack of landscaping and parking.

The officer recommendation to approve the application was proposed by 
Councillor Vivienne Chapman, seconded by Councillor Colin Dougan and put to 
the vote and lost. 

An alternative recommendation to refuse the application, for the reasons below, 
was proposed by Councillor Valerie White, seconded by Councillor Victoria 
Wheeler and put to the vote and carried.

RESOLVED that
I. Application 18/1083 be refused for the reasons following:

 Bulk and Mass 
 Overbearing 
 Impact on the Conservation Area
 Design of dormers
 Limited scope for landscaping and parking.

II. An informative be added to the reasons for refusal requesting 
any new application provides further clarification and technical 
advice on the rainwater and foul-water discharge from the 
property; and

III. the reasons for refusal and informative be finalised by the 
Executive Head of Regulatory after consultation with the 
Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Planning Applications 
Committee, and the Planning Case Officer.

Page 7



Minutes\Planning Applications Committee\10 October 2019

Note 1
It was noted for the record that:

i. All the Committee had received a phone call and various pieces of 
correspondence from the agent on the application.

ii. Councillor Graham Alleway had also received a phone call from the 
agent, and asked two questions in respects of the proposal. 

iii. A Member Site Visit had taken place on the application.  

Note 2 
In accordance with Part 4, Section D, paragraph 18 of the Constitution as 
Councillor Sarah Jane Croke had not been present for the whole 
consideration of the item, she did not participate in the debate or vote on 
the item. 

Note 3 
In accordance with Part 4, Section D, paragraph 18 of the Constitution, the 
voting in relation to the application was as follows: 

Voting in favour of the recommendation to approve the application: 

Councillors Cliff Betton, Vivienne Chapman, Colin Dougan, Charlotte 
Morley and Graham Tapper. 

Voting against the recommendation to approve the application: 

Councillors Graham Alleway, Peter Barnett, Edward Hawkins, Shaun 
Garrett, Sam Kay, Morgan Rise, Victoria Wheeler and Valerie White.

Note 4 
In accordance with Part 4, Section D, paragraph 18 of the Constitution, the 
voting in relation to the application was as follows: 

Voting in favour of the recommendation to refuse the application:

Councillors Graham Alleway, Peter Barnett, Edward Hawkins, Shaun 
Garrett, Sam Kay, Morgan Rise, Victoria Wheeler and Valerie White.  

Voting against the recommendation to refuse the application: 

Councillors Vivienne Chapman, Colin Dougan and Charlotte Morley.

Voting in abstention on the recommendation to refuse the application:

Councillors Cliff Betton and Graham Tapper.

13/P Application Number: 19/0304 - 134 & 136 LONDON ROAD, BAGSHOT, 
GU19 5BZ

The application was for outline planning application for the erection of 26 
residential units (Class C3) following demolition of both existing dwellings with new 
vehicular access off London Road. Access, appearance, layout and scale to be 

Page 8



Minutes\Planning Applications Committee\10 October 2019

considered with landscaping reserved. (Amended & additional plans & docs rec'd 
12/07/2019)

Members received the following updates on the application: 

“Update
Following submission of additional information, Surrey County Council as the Lead 
Local Flood Authority has now raised no objection subject to conditions requiring 
details of the design of the surface water drainage scheme, along with a 
subsequent verification report. These conditions are necessary to ensure that the 
proposed drainage would meet the National Non-Statutory Technical Standards 
for SuDS (Sustainable Drainage Systems).
As such, reason number 6 as outlined in the Committee Report has been 
overcome, subject to these conditions.” 

Members received a further verbal update from the Planning Case Officer advising 
that a revised ecology report had been received, which included further bat 
surveys. However the revised report had not been received in sufficient time to 
consult Surrey Wildlife Trust and as a result refusal reason 5 still stood; and would 
be reviewed as necessary at any potential appeal. 
In addition one further email objection had been received since the writing of the 
updates. However the issues raised were already covered in the officer report.

The officer recommendation to refuse the application was proposed by Councillor 
Colin Dougan and seconded by Councillor Sarah Croke, put to the vote and 
carried.

RESOLVED that application 19/0304 be refused for the reasons set out 
in the Officer Report

Note 1 
It was noted for the record that there had been a Member Site Visit on the 
application.

Note 2
In accordance with Part 4, Section D, paragraph 18 of the Constitution, the 
voting in relation to the application was as follows:

Councillors Graham Alleway, Peter Barnett, Cliff Betton, Vivienne 
Chapman, Sarah Jane Croke, Colin Dougan, Shaun Garrett, Edward 
Hawkins, Sam Kay, Charlotte Morley, Morgan Rise, Graham Tapper, 
Victoria Wheeler and Valerie White. 

Chairman 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Agenda Item Agenda Item 
 

  

Southampton to London Pipeline Development Consent Order 
 

Summary 
 
A Development Consent Order (DCO) application for the Southampton to London Pipeline 
Project is being considered by the Examination Authority (the Planning Inspectorate). 
Executive have resolved for submissions to be made to the Examination Authority in the 
form of a Local Impact Report and Statement of Common Ground.   
 
The Council has recently been made aware of the potential for likely significant effects on 
the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA) as a result of the scale and 
potential time scale of construction activities proposed on St Catherines Road Suitable 
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG).  This includes the siting of a temporary 
construction compound on the SANG. The Council is seeking to mitigate the impact of 
these construction activities through negotiation with Esso (the applicant).  The mitigation 
may include a financial contribution to future SANG provision secured through a Section 
106 agreement, in order to mitigate the likely significant effects of the proposal on the 
SPA. 

 

Wards Affected 
Frimley Green and Frimley Ward 

 

Recommendation  
 
The Planning Application Committee is asked to resolve to: 
 
Note the content of the report and for authority to be delegated to the Executive 
Head of Regulatory Services to make relevant representations to the Examination 
Authority in respect of the Southampton to London Pipeline Development Consent 
Order and in the event that a S106 agreement is required to enter into such an 
agreement and agree terms. 
 

 
1. Resource Implications 

 
1.1     There are resource implications arising from seeking specialist advice on the 

Development Consent Order but these are expected to be accommodated 
within the agreed budget for 2019/20. 

 
2. Key Issues 

 
           Introduction and background 
 
2.1     On the 14th May 2019 Esso submitted a Development Consent Order (DCO) 

application for the Southampton to London Pipeline Project to the Planning 
Inspectorate. The project proposes to replace 90km of the 105km 
underground aviation fuel pipeline that runs from the Fawley Refinery near 
Southampton to the West London Terminal storage facility in Hounslow. The 
existing pipeline runs from West to East in Surrey Heath, entering the Borough 
in Frimley Green and exiting into Runneymede from Chobham Common. 
 

2.2     A report was taken to the 16th July 2019 Executive meeting, which set out the 
key impacts and secured approval for the production of a Statement of 
Common Ground with Esso and the production of a Local Impact Report.  Due 
to uncertainty over submission timescales, authority to agree the content of 
these documents was delegated to the Executive Head of Regulatory 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4 



Agenda Item Agenda Item 
 

  

Services in consultation with the Finance Portfolio Holder and Planning and 
People Portfolio Holder Portfolio. 
 

2.3     The Examination began on the 9th October.  It will last for a maximum of 6 
months, after which the Examination Authority will provide its 
recommendations to the Secretary of State.   
 

2.4     As part of the Examination Process, local authorities are expected to submit a 
Local Impact Report (LIR). A LIR, as defined in Section 60(3) of the 2008 
Planning Act, is a ‘report in writing giving details of the likely impact of the 
proposed development in the authority’s area’.  Its purpose to inform the 
Examination Authority of the Council’s view on relevant matters. The Surrey 
Heath Local Impact Report has now been submitted to the Examination 
Authority and a copy of is included as at Annex 2.   
 

2.5     The Council has recently been made aware of the potential for likely 
significant effects on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
(SPA).  This results from the scale and potential time scale of construction 
activities associated with routing the pipeline through St Catherines Road 
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG).   On evaluation of the 
current order limits within St Catherines Road SANG, including the siting of 
a temporary construction site to include facilities for workers, the 
functioning of the SANG will likely be compromised and, as a 
consequence, the impact on the Thames Basin Heaths SPA will likely be 
significant (see map at Annex 1).  
 

2.6     Although it is noted that the construction of the pipeline will be within 
reduced working width and would not include the whole area identified in 
the order limits, the impact will none the less be significant, especially as it 
incorporates and compromises the SANGs circular walk. Moreover, the 
draft DCO does not currently limit the time period for which the applicant 
could undertake works on the SANG, and it has been verbally relayed to 
officers that the temporary construction compound proposed for the SANG 
could be in place for a matter of years. 

 
Proposals 

 
2.7     Officers consider that there are two potential options for Esso to mitigate the 

impacts of the proposed development on St Catherines Road SANG. The first 
is to seek for the temporary construction compound to be removed from the 
SANG and the order limits of the pipeline to be reduced to such a degree that 
it would reduce the impact on the SANGs circular walk and tranquillity.    
 

2.8     The second, option is for Esso to provide a financial contribution towards 
replacement future SANG provision in Surrey Heath, secured through a 
Section 106 agreement.  It is noted that this would not prevent the Council 
raising separate concerns in relation to other matters.  The report 
recommendation seeks for authority to be delegated to the Executive Head of 
Regulatory Services to enter into a Section 106 agreement, if required. 
 

2.9     The Council is able to express a view on the required mitigation through 
participation in the Development Consent Order Examination, however, the 
Council is only a stakeholder in the Development Consent Order process.  It is 
noted that another stakeholder, Natural England, has not raised objections to 
the Pipeline proposals.  It will be for the Examination Authority to determine if 

Page 12



Agenda Item Agenda Item 
 

  

mitigation is required and reasonable and what form the mitigation should 
take.   
 

2.10 It is expected that the Examination Authority will consider SPA and SANG 
Local Impact issues at Hearing sessions on 3 and 4 December 2019.  This 
Committee is requested to note the content of this report and for authority to 
be delegated to the Executive Head of Regulatory Services to make relevant 
representations to the Examination Authority in respect of the impacts of the 
proposal on the Borough. 
 

 
 

Annexes 
 

Annex 1: Map  
Annex 2 :Surrey Heath Local Impact Report in respect of 
the Southampton to London Pipeline Project 

Background Papers 
 

Further information is available: 
https://www.surreyheath.gov.uk/southampton-london-
pipeline-project 
 

Author/Contact Details 
 

Keiran Bartlett and Jane Reeves 
Keiran.Bartlett@surreyheath.gov.uk, extension 7209 

Head of Service 
 

Jenny Rickard 

 
:  

Page 13

https://www.surreyheath.gov.uk/southampton-london-pipeline-project
https://www.surreyheath.gov.uk/southampton-london-pipeline-project
mailto:Keiran.Bartlett@surreyheath.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1: Location of Southampton to London Pipelines order limits within St 
Catherines Road SANG

Description

The red lines illustrate the extent of the order limits of the DCO application. The 
section of the order limits that extend north east into the SANG represents a 
stringing out area for the pipeline in the eventuality that Esso uses trenchless 
techniques to install the pipeline on St Catherines Road. The area in hatched red 
illustrates the indicative location of the temporary construction compound. The area 
in green indicates the location where the pipeline will be installed (Esso have 
committed to a reduced working width of 15m in this area). The area in yellow is 
outside the southern border of the SANG and represents the area for bat mitigation 
measures proposed by the applicant for Frith Hill. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Surrey Heath Borough Council Local Impact Report 

Section 60 of the Planning Act 2008 

 

 

 

Esso Petroleum Company Limited Southampton to London Pipeline Project 

Application for a Development Consent Order 

 

Project reference no. EN070005 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   October 2019 

Page 17



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

2   October 2019 
 

 

1 Introduction 
 

1.1 Esso Petroleum Company Limited (EPCL or ‘Esso’) has applied for a Development Consent 

Order (DCO) for a replacement aviation oil pipeline running from east of Southampton 

to the company’s West London Terminal Storage Facility south of London Heathrow 

Airport.  The pipeline passes through Surrey Heath, a local authority district in Surrey. 

 

1.2 This report has been prepared by Surrey Heath Borough Council in accordance with the 

advice and requirements set out in the Planning Act 2008 and the Planning Inspectorate’s 

Advice Note One: Local Impact Reports (version 2, April 2012). It represents the Council’s 

Local Impact Report (LIR) on the proposal. A LIR as defined in Section 60(3) of the 2008 

Act is a ‘report in writing giving details of the likely impact of the proposed development 

in the authority’s area (or any part of that area)’, with the overall purpose to inform the 

examining authority (the Planning Inspectorate on behalf of the Secretary of State in this 

case) of the local authority’s view on relevant matters.  

 

1.3 The content of the LIR is a matter for the Local Authority concerned as long as it falls 

within the statutory definition. The Council should cover any topics they consider 

relevant to the impact of the proposed development on their area, and should draw on 

existing local knowledge. The Local Authority is not required to carry out its own 

consultation with the community (including Parish Councils). The community has had the 

opportunity through the applicant’s consultation process to make their observations 

known. In addition local residents and Parish Councillors have the opportunity to make 

a representation of their full concerns directly to the Examining Authority as part of the 

Examination process. The Council has highlighted key issues of local concern to residents 

within this LIR. The report sets out the positive, neutral and negative local impacts but 

does not need to carry out a balancing exercise. 

  

1.4 The Southampton to London Pipeline Project seeks Development Consent for the 

construction of a 97km cross-country pipeline by Esso. This includes the replacement of 

an existing pipeline and will run from Boorley Green in Hampshire to Esso’s West London 

Terminal storage facility in the London Borough of Hounslow. The project is a Nationally 

Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) within section 14(1)(g) of the Planning Act 2008 

(as amended) (‘the 2008 Act”) for which development consent is required under section 

31 of the 2008 Act. Development consent is required before the development can 

proceed. 

 

1.5 The Council does not object to the principle of the proposed replacement pipeline and 

recognises the need identified in the applicants planning statement in Chapter 2 

(Application document 7.1). However, the Council has raised concerns about specific 

aspects of the Development Consent Order, which are identified in this report, and 

continues to engage with the applicant to resolve the issues identified. 

 

Page 18



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

3   October 2019 
 

 

2 Points of common concern with neighbouring local authorities 

 
2.1 Esso’s proposed pipeline runs through three local authority areas in north-west Surrey - 

Surrey Heath, Runnymede and Spelthorne.  Discussions between the three boroughs 

have revealed matters of generic concern in respect of the local impacts of the pipeline.  

These concerns are explained in this chapter, along with potential remedies that the DCO 

could usefully afford.  Later chapters of this LIR will demonstrate how these generic 

concerns arise in specific locations. 

 

2.2 This section is arranged under the following headings: 

 Tree protection 

 Ecology and biodiversity 

 Transport 

 Residential amenity 

 

2.3 In addition to the local authorities’ role as  statutory consultees (pursuant to S.42 1 (b) 

under the Planning Act 2008), the local authorities have interests in land included in the 

Book of Reference and as such will be making separate representations as  statutory 

consultees under S.42 1 (d). The impact on the local authorities’ landholdings will be 

particular to the interests over which powers are sought and may include, but are not 

limited to, the matters raised in this Local Impact Report. Matters relating to the 

proposed compulsory acquisition of land or interests held by the local authorities will be 

addressed through Written Representations and oral evidence at the Compulsory 

Acquisition Hearings, as  S.42 1 (d) consultees. 

 

Tree protection 

2.4 The proposed pipeline has, where possible, crossed undeveloped land including 

farmlands and heaths.  Where a route through urban areas is considered by the Applicant 

to be unavoidable, the pipeline where possible follows roads with wide verges, or crosses 

public open space and playing fields. 

 

2.5 The general logic of such a routing strategy is acknowledged.  However, in Surrey a 

sensitivity is the extent of woodland in both rural and urban areas.  According to aerial 

mapping company BlueSky, Surrey is England’s most wooded county.  A survey in 2014 

indicated that 40.6% of Surrey Heath is wooded, as is 37.8% of Runnymede.  In the more 

urban parts of the county including Spelthorne, trees are prized assets in the townscape 

and make a valuable contribution to local amenity. 

 

2.6 In places Esso has sought to direct the pipeline corridor around blocks of woodland.  

However, as the site-specific examples cited later in this LIR explain, some sections of 

woodland would incur significant tree loss without the potential to replant trees above 

the finished pipeline afterwards.  These include trees that are the subject of Tree 

Page 19



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

4   October 2019 
 

 

Preservation Orders (TPOs), are ancient woodland or have ancient or veteran tree status.  

In other sections of the pipeline the DCO Order Limits or the Limits of Deviation for the 

pipeline route are wide enough to admit the possibility of tree loss or harm to root 

systems. 

 

2.7 Areas subject to TPOs are shown in the Applicant’s General Arrangement Plans 

(application document 2.6 rev. 2 vols 1-3, September 2019).  Schedule 8 of the 

applicant’s draft DCO (application document 3.1 rev. 2, September 2019) identifies trees 

subject to TPOs.  In total, 31 tree groups or individual trees subject to TPOs in Surrey 

would be affected by the pipeline proposals.  For 22 of these TPOs, the proposed works 

would include tree felling.  Works otherwise generally comprise crown lifting and pruning 

to prevent damage during the movement of construction plant and machinery. 

 

2.8 Environmental Statement (Volume D) Appendix 10.2 provides a Schedule of Notable 

Trees (application document 6.4).  According to paragraph 10.2.10 of ES chapter 10: 

Landscape and visual, (application document 6.4), ‘notable trees are defined as 

prominent trees within the landscape and by nature will generally be the larger more 

mature specimens’.  

 

2.9 The Councils are content that the Applicant has identified protected and notable trees 

accurately.  Of more concern is the assessment of undesignated mature trees, which can 

include trees in local authority parks and open spaces.  ES paragraph 10.2.19 (second 

bullet) reports the Planning Inspectorate’s advice at the EIA scoping stage of the project 

that ‘Any undesignated mature trees or areas of woodland that could be affected by the 

project should be assessed in terms of their contribution to the landscape’. Esso’s 

response in the same bullet point is ‘The impacts on trees has been informed by an 

arboricultural assessment and has been taken into account in Section 10.5 within the 

assessment of Potential Landscape Effects: Landscape Character’.  As explained in the 

site-specific sections of this LIR, the Councils are concerned that undesignated trees have 

not always been assessed accurately in terms of their landscape and visual amenity 

value.   

 

2.10 In respect of mitigation for tree loss, ES chapter 10: Landscape and visual (application 

document 6.4) states that: 

 

2.11 ‘Mitigation has been identified in the form of native species hedge and tree planting. 

Native trees and hedgerows would be planted within areas identified as tree planting and 

hedge infilling on Figure 7.5 of the ES (LV1). This is a holistic approach to partly offset the 

envisaged loss of trees from the overall pipeline installation project . . .’ 

 

2.12 ‘The design of the route and the application of good practice measures, including narrow 

width working and trenchless crossings set out in the REAC, has reduced the impacts 

arising from pipeline installation on woodland, TPOs and protected trees within 

Page 20



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

5   October 2019 
 

 

Conservation Areas. Whilst reinstatement planting would establish to reinstate lost 

vegetation, it would not be possible to fully mitigate the potential permanent loss of TPO 

trees in the same location. There would be restrictions to planting trees over and around 

pipeline easements. There may also be less scope to accommodate reinstatement of trees 

within the wider urban area because of restrictions caused by built development, 

proximity to highways and underground services for example . . .’ 

DCO provisions for tree protection 

2.13 In respect of the protection afforded by the draft DCO for trees (see application 

document 3.2 rev. 2, Schedule 2 Part 1: Requirements), Requirement 6: Construction 

Environmental Management Plan states in part (d)(ix) that the CEMP must include an 

Arboricultural Management Plan.  Requirement 8: Hedgerows and trees provides for a 

written plan of reinstatement for hedgerows and, which must form part of the Landscape 

and Ecological Management Plan to be approved in accordance with Requirement 12. 

 

2.14 The ES offers no quantification of the overall likely tree loss to the proposed pipeline and 

its mitigation proposals are vague.  The Applicant’s ES offers at best a hazy view of the 

effects on trees and woodlands, cumulatively and at any given point along the pipeline.   

 

2.15 As things stand any details of tree loss and mitigation would not become available until 

the DCO was already made.  The Councils do not consider that Requirements R6: 

Construction Environmental Management Plan, R8: Hedgerows and trees and R12: 

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan explicitly provide the level of protection for 

trees that should be a precondition for a DCO being made.   

 

2.16 To address the paucity of detail about the measures that would be taken to work around 

and protect existing trees during construction, the Councils requests that Examining 

Authority (ExA) invites Esso to submit a Tree Survey and Protection Strategy for 

consideration during the DCO examination process.  The Strategy should explain in detail 

the working principles that Esso and its contractors will apply to minimise harm to trees, 

whether or not protected, during pipeline construction.   

 

2.17 The DCO should enforce compliance with the Tree Survey and Protection Strategy and 

to ensure its implementation at the local level, the following DCO Requirement should 

be included in the Order. 

 

NEW REQUIREMENT:  Before the commencement of work in any local authority borough 

or district through which the pipeline passes, a detailed Local Tree Protection Plan should 

be submitted to and approved by the relevant planning authority in accordance with the 

Tree Survey and Protection Strategy. 

(1). The Local Tree Protection Plan should be prepared by a qualified member of the 

Arboricultural Association and should include: 

Page 21



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

6   October 2019 
 

 

 

(a) a plan showing the location of, and allocating a reference number to, each existing 

tree on the site which has a stem with a diameter, measured over the bark at a point 1.5 

metres above ground level, exceeding 75 mm, showing which trees are to be retained 

and the crown spread and estimated root spread of each retained tree; 

 

(b) details of the species, diameter (measured in accordance with paragraph (a) above), 

and the approximate height, and an assessment of the general state of health and 

stability, of each retained tree and of each tree which is on land adjacent to the site and 

to which paragraphs (c) and (d) below apply;  

 

(c) details of any proposed topping, lopping or root severance of any retained tree, or of 

any tree on land adjacent to the site; 

 

(d) details of any proposed alterations in existing ground levels, and of the position of 

any proposed excavation, within the crown spread of any retained tree or of any tree on 

land adjacent to the site;  

 

(e) details of the specification and position of fencing and of any other measures to be 

taken for the protection of any retained tree from damage before or during the course 

of development.  

 

In this Requirement ‘retained tree’ means an existing tree which is to be retained in 

accordance with the plan referred to in paragraph (a) above. 

(2) The Local Tree Protection Plan should include details of the species, diameter 

(measured in accordance with paragraph (1)(a) above), approximate height and an 

assessment of the general state of health and stability of any trees proposed for felling, 

and a scheme for their replacement or for other compensatory landscape and planting 

works.  A written explanation of why the subject trees cannot be retained should be 

provided for each tree proposed for felling. 

(3) The Local Tree Protection Plan should include a scheme for the long-term after care 

of trees affected by the proposed works and trees planted in compensation for those 

lost.  The scheme should be applicable for five years following the first operation of the 

oil pipeline. 

2.18 It is the Council’s understanding that the residents of Lightwater have been in discussions 

with Esso and the applicant has verbally offered for consideration of the lifetime of a tree 

to be considered following the first operation of the pipeline, rather than the five years 

proposed in the proposed new requirement above. 

  

 

Page 22



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

7   October 2019 
 

 

Ecology and biodiversity 

2.19 The proposed pipeline passes through or close to a range of European, statutory and 

non-statutory protected habitats. 

 

2.20 All of Surrey Heath and parts of Runnymede lie within 5km of the Thames Basin Heaths 

Special Protection Area (SPA), which was designated by the European Union in March 

2005. The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is a network of heathland sites designated for its 

ability to provide a habitat for three internationally important rare bird species - Dartford 

warbler, woodlark and nightjar.  The SPA is protected from adverse effects under the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and European 

Directive 2009/147/EC.  

 

2.21 The Thames Basin Heaths Joint Strategic Partnership Board (JSPB) was established to 

promote a coordinated approach between local authorities and other organisations 

responsible for protection of the Thames Basin Heaths SPA.  The JSPB has adopted a 

Strategic Delivery Framework to manage and protect the SPA through measures 

including the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG).  These are 

areas that were not previously in use for recreation and which offer the capacity to 

absorb the additional recreational demand generated by new residential development, 

so relieving pressure on the SPA. 

 

2.22 Elsewhere along the pipeline there are extensive areas designated as non-statutory Sites 

of Nature Conservation Importance (SNCI), many of which provide habitats for statutorily 

protected flora and fauna including the great crested newt.  These sites are identified in 

the figures and appendices of the Applicant’s ES. 

 

2.23 The Councils consider that specialist ecological advice is required to evaluate the 

potential impact of the construction of the pipeline on biodiversity and nature 

conservation interests.  The Councils does not possess such expertise in-house and can 

offer only high-level comments on the local impacts of the proposed pipeline on the 

natural environment. 

 

2.24 It is noted that Natural England has submitted a Relevant Representation (document ref. 

EN070005-000383, dated 26 and 27 July 2019) advising that it is content with Esso’s 

approach to the protection of nature conservation interests and that a Statement of 

Common Ground between Esso and Natural England is due.  It is encouraging that the 

Applicant has engaged with Natural England in a timely manner to address the 

sensitivities of running a pipeline through European protected habitats.  However, it 

appears to the Councils that there remain detailed and site-specific points of concern 

relating to the effects of the project on protected habitats that will warrant Natural 

England’s close and continued attention throughout the DCO examination process.   

 

Page 23



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

8   October 2019 
 

 

2.25 It is requested that the Examining Authority directs written questions towards Natural 

England and requests senior representation from Natural England at relevant hearings 

to ensure that nature conservation interest are properly represented.  This will ultimately 

be in the applicant’s interest by facilitating a positive conclusion to the Habitats 

Regulations Assessment process and helping to ensure that the Order, if finally made, is 

robust in these terms. 

DCO Provisions for ecology and biodiversity 

2.26 As noted, the Councils lack in-house ecological expertise and is concerned to avoid a 

situation where the burden of finding practical solutions to specific ecological 

sensitivities falls to the relevant planning authority when DCO Requirements are being 

discharged. 

 

2.27 Requirement 12: Landscape and Ecological Management Plan and Requirement 13: 

Protected species of the draft DCO afford protection for the natural environment (see 

application document 3.2 rev. 2, Schedule 2 Part 1: Requirements).   

 

2.28 Requirement 12 provides for the submission to and approval by the LPA of a Landscape 

and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP), ‘reflecting the survey results and ecological 

mitigation and other measures in the REAC, including the SSSI working plans . . .’.  The 

REAC is a Register of Environmental Actions and Commitments set out in section 16.3 of 

ES chapter 16 Environmental Management and Mitigation (application document 6.2, 

PINS ref. APP-056).   

 

2.29 The REAC includes embedded design measures and mitigation.  It sets out common sense 

high-level principles but there is little local or site-specific detail.  This detail will be 

described or enforced through a range of subsidiary documents including a Code of 

Construction Practice (CoCP, provided as ES Appendix 16.1, PINS ref. APP-128), an 

Archaeological Mitigation Strategy (AMS, provided as ES Appendix 9.5, PINS ref APP-

113), and a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and the LEMP. ES 

paragraph 16.1.4 explains that ‘the CEMP and LEMP will require further design input that 

is not available at the time of the application’.   

 

2.30 An outline CEMP has been submitted by the Applicant (ES Appendix 16.2, PINS ref. APP-

130), but the Councils are concerned at the evident lack of detail in the outline document 

and the repeated disclaimer that it will be the contractor’s responsibility to agree the 

details with local authorities.  It is requested that ExA invites the applicant to submit a 

detailed draft CEMP within a reasonable timeframe during the current DCO examination 

for consideration. 

 

2.31 Later sections of this LIR identify specific local impacts on ecology and biodiversity from 

the pipeline construction.  In reviewing these specific impacts it is requested that ExA, 

advised as appropriate by Natural England, considers whether the protections and 

Page 24



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

9   October 2019 
 

 

safeguards proposed thus far by the Applicant would render specific impacts acceptable 

such that a DCO can be made.  If not, it is requested that ExA seeks appropriate remedies 

from the Applicant before the examination closes and ensures that enforceable 

protective measures are incorporated in the draft DCO as submitted to the Secretary of 

State. 

 

Transport and highways 

2.32 In general, crossings of primary roads would be achieved by means of trenchless working.  

Subject to certain site-specific concerns identified later in this LIR, the Councils support 

this approach. 

 

2.33 Numerous sections of the proposed pipeline cross run along highway corridors.  

Although these are often secondary or tertiary routes they are often busy thoroughfares.  

Road closures or contraflow working during the construction of the pipeline could give 

rise to substantial traffic congestion.  In turn, this could disrupt bus services and impede 

the passage of emergency service vehicles.  Traffic congestion can also adversely affect 

local businesses that rely on the restricted route for access. 

 

2.34 Surrey County Council is the Local Highway Authority (LHA) for the Borough.  In response 

to the individual traffic impacts identified later in this LIR it is requested that ExA seeks 

the LHA’s advice on the workability of the temporary highways restrictions proposed by 

the Applicant. 

 

2.35 Some of the roads affected by pipeline construction are frequented by emergency 

service vehicles. It is requested also that ExA seeks advice from Surrey County Council in 

its capacity as the statutory Fire and Rescue Service provider, and from Surrey Police and 

the South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust, on the issue of whether 

a reasonable standard of emergency service protection can be maintained during the 

proposed roadworks. 

DCO provisions for transport and highways 

2.36 Requirement 7: Construction traffic provides for the submission to and approval by the 

relevant highway authority of a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP).  The 

Requirement states that ‘The CTMP for each stage must reflect the mitigation measures 

set out in the REAC’.  This makes sense as far as it goes but the REAC is an all-embracing 

high level list and does not, in its own right, provide a sufficient basis for a CTMP.   

 

2.37 Accordingly it is requested that the following provision is added to Requirement 7: 

 

ADDITION TO REQ7: 

The CTMP for each stage will provide details of the following: 

 

Page 25



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

10   October 2019 
 

 

a. Development phasing 

b. Vehicle types 

c. Abnormal indivisible load movements 

d. Recording of construction vehicle movements 

e. Local highway issues and constraints 

f. Highway condition survey 

g. Access and route strategy 

h. Signage strategy 

i. Core working hours 

j. Use of banksmen 

k. Management of pubic rights of way 

l. Wheel-washing and maintenance of a clean highway 

m. Travel plan for construction workers 

n. Temporary traffic management procedures 

o. Temporary repositioning of bus stops 

p. Communications and community engagement 

q. Liaison with emergency services 

r. Monitoring arrangements 

s. Compliance and enforcement procedures 

 

Residential amenity 

2.38 The proposed pipeline would pass through many residential neighbourhoods.  In the 

absence of effective mitigation, construction of the pipeline has the potential to give rise 

to a range of adverse effects on residential amenity including noise and vibration, 

airborne dust, mud on roads, disruption to utility services, restrictions of access to 

property and the loss of street trees and other vegetation. 

DCO provisions for residential amenity 

2.39 Along with Requirements 7: Construction traffic, 8: Hedgerows and trees and 14: 

Construction hours, the primary protection for residential amenity is Requirement 6: 

Construction Environmental Management Plan.  As acknowledged above in respect of 

ecology, an outline CEMP has been submitted by the Applicant (ES Appendix 16.2, PINS 

ref. APP-130), but the Councils are concerned at the lack of detail in the outline 

document and the repeated disclaimer that it will be the contractor’s responsibility to 

agree the details with relevant local authorities.   

 

2.40 In view of the very close proximity of construction works to residential properties at 

various points along the pipeline route, including those identified later in this LIR, it is 

requested that ExA invites the applicant to submit a detailed draft CEMP within a 

reasonable timeframe during the current DCO examination (e.g. Deadline 3, 11 

December 2019) for consideration.  This would provide interested parties with a clearer 

Page 26



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

11   October 2019 
 

 

impression of the range of measures proposed to protect residential amenity, enabling 

refinements to be made as necessary.   

 

2.41 Requirement 7 should then be amended to ensure that the detailed CEMPs submitted 

to relevant planning authorities for approval will embrace all relevant provisions from 

the draft CEMP. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

12   October 2019 
 

 

3 Local area characteristics 

 

3.1 Surrey Heath lies in the north-western corner of Surrey and adjoins the counties of 

Berkshire and Hampshire. The western half of the Borough is mainly urban in character 

and includes the towns of Camberley and Frimley and the smaller settlements of Frimley 

Green, Mytchett, Deepcut and Bagshot. The eastern half of the Borough is mostly 

countryside in the Metropolitan Green Belt and includes the villages of Bisley, Bagshot, 

Lightwater, West End and Windlesham and Chobham. 

 

3.2 The River Blackwater forms the western boundary of the Borough. From here the land 

rises gradually to the north and east leading to the areas of heathland which give the 

Borough its name. The River Bourne (also known as the Addlestone Bourne) flows 

through the east of the Borough and out toward the River Wey. The other important 

waterway is the Basingstoke Canal that flows through the southern part of the Borough. 

The heathland areas are recognised as being of national and international importance 

and form part of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA) and the 

Thursley, Ash, Pirbright and Chobham Common Special Areas of Conservation. The 

Borough also contains four extensive Sites of Special Scientific Interest; Ash to 

Brookwood Heaths; Broadmoor to Bagshot Woods and Heaths; Chobham Common; and 

Colony Bog to Bagshot Heaths. These four areas between them cover approximately 23% 

of the Borough.   

 

3.3 Biodiversity is a significant issue within the Borough.  SHBC has pioneered the use of 

Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) to enable the Borough to meet housing 

and employment land supply targets without adding to recreational pressures on the 

Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (TBH SPA). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

13   October 2019 
 

 

4 Pipeline route description 
 

4.1 The replacement pipeline route enters the west of the Borough following a long crossing 

under the North Downs railway line, A331 Blackwater Valley Road, River Blackwater, 

Blackwater Valley and the Ascot to Guildford railway line. The route then runs along the 

south eastern boundary of SC Johnson Ltd land before crossing Frimley Green Road 

(B3411) near the roundabout with Balmoral Drive. From the B3411 the route follows 

Balmoral Drive to Frith Hill, crossing MoD land, where it follows the existing pipeline 

across Pine Ridge Golf Course.  

 

4.2 Following the junction of Old Bisley Road, The Maultway and Deepcut Bridge Road, the 

route enters MoD land associated with the Bisley and Pirbright Ranges, Colony Bog and 

Bagshot Heath SSSI. The route continues north running adjacent to The Maultway 

(B3015) then turning east to follow Red Road (B311) and through an area of woodland 

before running alongside Guildford Road for a short distance. The section then crosses 

Guildford Road, followed by a crossing of the A322 Lightwater Bypass, continuing 

through Windlemere Suitable Alternative Green Space (SANG). The application route will 

then cross the Hale Bourne. The route then continues generally north-east, crossing 

Windlesham Road, before passing through Chobham Common SSSI and exiting the east 

of the Borough  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

14   October 2019 
 

 

5 Local Planning Policy context 

 

5.1 The adopted development plan for Surrey Heath is the Core Strategy and Development 

Management Policies Development Plan Document (CSDMP) (2012), together with saved 

policies from the Surrey Heath Local Plan 2000, the Camberley Town Centre Area Action 

Plan (2014) and the ‘made’ Windlesham Neighbourhood Plan (2019). The Development 

Plan Polices from the CSDMP  that the Council considers are relevant to the consideration 

of the present application for a DCO are as follows: 

 CP1 – Spatial Strategy   

 CP2 –  Sustainable Development and Design   

 CP11 – Movement 

 CP13 – Green Infrastructure 

 CP14a – Biodiversity and Nature Conservation 

 CP14b – European sites 

 DM9 – Design Principles 

 DM10 – Development and Flood Risk 

 DM11 – Traffic Management and Highway Safety 

 DM15 – Protection of Greenspaces and Recreational Facilities 

 DM17 – Heritage  

 

5.2 Policy CP1 sets out the spatial strategy for the Borough covering where new 

development will be directed in Surrey Heath, including the major redevelopment of 

Princess Royal Barracks, and identifies areas of the Borough designated as countryside. 

The Council considers that the replacement pipeline route will have a neutral impact on 

site allocations, and the applicant has had regard to allocated sites proximal to the 

replacement pipeline route. Policy CP2 requires development to ensure that land is used 

efficiently and within the context of its surroundings, respecting and enhancing the 

quality of the Borough’s historic and natural environments.  

 

5.3 Policy CP11 supports the efficient and safe operation of the of the highway network, 

including reducing the impact of traffic on residential areas. Policy DM11 advises that 

development will not be permitted that adversely impacts on the safe and efficient flow 

of traffic movement on the highway network unless it can be demonstrated that 

measures to reduce and mitigate such impacts can be implemented to an acceptable 

level. The policy also requires development to protect existing footways, cycle ways and 

bridleways. 

 

5.4  Policy CP13 states that development which results in the loss, fragmentation or isolation 

of green infrastructure will be resisted.  The policy states also that Suitable Alternative 

Natural Greenspace (SANG) is considered to be green infrastructure of strategic 

importance. Policy DM15 affirms that the loss or fragmentation of open space will be 

resisted.  

 

Page 30



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

15   October 2019 
 

 

5.5 Policy CP14A sets out that the Council will seek to conserve and enhance biodiversity 

within the Borough, identifying that development that results in the harm to or loss of 

features of interest for biodiversity will not be permitted. Policy CP14b adds that the 

Council will not permit development that gives rise to likely significant adverse effect 

upon the integrity of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA) and the 

Thursley, Ash, Pirbright and Chobham Common Special Area of Conservation (SAC). The 

policy also sets out the requirements for which new development needs to comply to 

ensure no likely significant effect on the Thames Basin Heaths SPA, including 

requirements for SANG provision. The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 

Avoidance Strategy supplementary planning document (SPD, March 2019, reproduced 

at the end of this LIR as appendix SH-LIR1) is also relevant, providing guidance on 

avoidance measures and detailing the requirements for the management in perpetuity 

of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG). 

 

5.6 CSDMP Policy DM9 states that development will be considered acceptable if it protects 

trees and other vegetation worthy of retention and reduces the potential for crime and 

fear of crime. Policy DM10 sets out the Councils approach to flood risk. Policy DM17 

concerns the Councils approach to heritage and seeks to promote the conservation and 

enhancement of heritage assets and their setting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

16   October 2019 
 

 

6 Planning assessment 
 

6.1 The Rule 6 letter published on 5 September 2019 included at annex E the matters to be 

included in Statements of Common Ground between the applicant and Surrey Heath 

Borough Council. The Local Impact Report likewise covers similar matters and therefore 

the assessment is thus framed on the following:  

 Flood risk;  

 Biodiversity and ecology;  

 Landscape and visual impacts; 

 Noise, air quality and disturbance; 

 People and communities; 

 Highways and Transport; 

 Security and safety; 

 Geological, soil and contamination impacts; and 

 Historic environment. 

 

Flood risk 

6.2 The pipeline would cross the river Bourne, north of Chobham, and the Blackwater Valley 

to the east of Farnborough North Station, areas of which are in flood zone 2 and flood 

zone 3. Of the 98 watercourse crossings identified in the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

(SFRA, document 7.3), 17 crossings have been assessed with a medium or high flood risk 

to sensitive receptors based on the assessment criteria1. Two of these sites are in Surrey 

Heath Borough Council’s area, including at the SC Johnson Factory in Frimley Green and 

Windsor Road, Chobham. 

 

6.3 There are a number of locations in which Esso proposes to encroach into, and 

temporarily store soil within, Flood Zone 3. For the two areas in Surrey Heath that this 

applies to, the construction compound on Frimley Green Road was assessed as low risk 

with very low severity in the applicants Flood Risk Assessment, and the area where the 

pipeline crosses Windle Brook, north of Chobham, was assessed in the applicants Flood 

Risk Assessment as having a medium risk with a low severity of impact.  

 

6.4 The Lightwater area is also noted in the applicant’s Flood Risk Assessment as having a 

high flood risk in relation to residential properties. It is noted that there is potential for 

flood risk to be exacerbated by the loss of trees in this area and this issue is set out in the 

flood risk assessment. It is noted that in August 2006 and in 2007, a number of properties 

in Lightwater and Chobham were flooded internally and externally. The principal sources 

of flooding were a combination of sewage, surface and foul water incursions. The 

Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2015) identified that in the south-east of 

Lightwater, properties are at high risk of flooding from the Lightwater Stream. The 

                                                           
1 Due to the increase in temporary haul road crossings, summarised in Section 4 of the FRA submitted by the applicant 

Page 32



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

17   October 2019 
 

 

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2015) also identified areas to the South of Lightwater, 

including where the replacement pipeline crosses Red Road, to be at high risk of ground 

water flooding. 

 

6.5 The impacts on flood risk are therefore considered by the Council to be negative. The 

Council notes that mitigation measures are proposed by the applicant (such as G282, 

G1793 and those set out in table 3.3 of Appendix 16.1, application document 6.4). SHBC 

requests that ExA reviews the issue of flood risk and as appropriate secures assurances 

from Surrey County Council, in its capacity as the lead local flood authority, and the 

Environment Agency, in its capacity as the statutory body for flooding, that Esso’s 

individual proposed flood mitigation measures would be effective and the most 

appropriate and robust measures to address the issue of the increased risk of flooding. 

 

Biodiversity and ecology  

European sites 

6.6 Surrey Heath is entirely within 5km of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 

(SPA), which was designated by the European Union in March 2005. The Thames Basin 

Heaths SPA is a network of heathland sites designated for its ability to provide a habitat 

for three internationally important rare bird species: Dartford warbler, woodlark and 

nightjar. It is protected from adverse effects under The Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2017 (or as subsequently amended) and European Directive 

2009/147/EC. The Regulations deal with both the impact of developments and of 

Development Plans upon European Sites which include SPAs. 

 

6.7 Due to the large number of local authorities involved and the cumulative nature of the 

impacts (a result of many individual housing developments), a co-ordinated approach to 

avoidance measures has been necessary and the Thames Basin Heaths Joint Strategic 

Partnership Board (JSPB) was set up to provide the vehicle for joint working between the 

11 local authorities and other organisations responsible for protection of the Thames 

Basin Heaths SPA. The JSPB includes Member representation for each affected Local 

Authority together with a number of stakeholders. 

 

6.8 In February 2009 the JSPB endorsed a Strategic Delivery Framework. This recommends a 

combination of three avoidance and mitigation measures to protect the Thames Basin 

Heaths from the impacts of new residential development:  

 

 The establishment of a 400 metre buffer around the SPA within which no net new 

residential development will be permitted.  

                                                           
2 G28 - Construction workers would undergo training to increase their awareness of environmental issues. More details 
provided on page 16 of Appendix 16.1, Application Document 6.4. 
3 G179 - An Emergency Action Plan would be developed for the construction phase which would outline procedures to be 

implemented in case of unplanned events such as site flooding, pollution incident, disease outbreak etc. 

Page 33



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

18   October 2019 
 

 

 The provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG).  

 Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) measures, coordinated 

visitor management across the whole of the publically accessible SPA. 

 

6.9 SANGs are areas that currently are not in use for recreation and so are a new alternative 

provision or are existing areas that are significantly under-used and so have the capacity 

to absorb additional recreational use. SANGs should be in place before any development 

is occupied so that the risk of additional recreational pressure arising on the SPA is 

avoided. SANGs are expected to be provided and funded in order that they can function 

in perpetuity, which is considered to be at least 125 years, in accordance with legislation 

which defines the ‘in perpetuity’ period (Perpetuities and Accumulations Act 2009).   

 

6.10 All proposals for SANGs must include a detailed SANG Management Plan that clearly 

outlines the practical habitat management and explains how the requirements of the 

SANG Guidelines (see section 6) will be met. The SANG Management Plan should include 

details of the managing body or organisation, capital costs and costs for the in-perpetuity 

management of the SANG in order to demonstrate that the SANG will deliver effective 

avoidance both at the outset and in perpetuity. There are a number of requirements that 

a SANG must meet in order to be considered an in-perpetuity mitigation measure for the 

avoidance of likely significant effects on the SPA, including being designed to be 

perceived to be safe by users, be perceived as semi-natural with little intrusion from 

artificial structures and be free from unpleasant intrusions. More information is available 

in the Thames Basin Heaths SPA Avoidance Strategy Supplementary Planning Document 

(2019), enclosed as appendix SH-LIR1. 

 

6.11 The replacement pipeline passes through large areas of the Thames Basin Heaths SPA in 

Surrey Heath. The Council considers that specialist ecological advice is required to 

evaluate the potential impact of the construction of the pipeline in areas of the Borough 

that are designated as Special Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas due to 

the complex ecological considerations associated with such designations, as well as the 

need to ensure that any likely significant effects are avoided or appropriately mitigated.  

As noted at paragraph 2.23, it is requested that the ExA directs written questions to 

Natural England. Matters in Surrey Heath on which Natural England’s input would 

beneficial include SANGs and the protection of great crested newts and trees.  These will 

be considered in turn. 

 

SANGs 

6.12 There is the potential for significant impacts on the Thames Basin Heaths Special 

Protection Area (SPA) associated with construction activities associated with routing the 

pipeline through Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces (SANGs).  Any impact on an 

area of SANG has a consequential impact on the SPA because SANGs are specifically 

provided and required in order to mitigate the impact of new development on the SPA.  

Page 34



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

19   October 2019 
 

 

This includes St Catherine’s Road SANG (sometimes referred to as Clewborough SANG) 

in Frimley, and Windlemere SANG in West End.  

 

6.13 The applicant’s Habitats Regulations Assessment report (application document 6.5) 

concludes that there will be no likely significant effect on the integrity of the Thames 

Basin Heaths SPA. It is noted that the Habitats Regulations Assessment (summary, page 

3) states that: 

 

“the presence of alternative unaffected spaces within 5km of affected sites further 

establishes a low risk of significant recreational displacement occurring. Any effects 

experienced are anticipated to be minor as the relative impact of a marginal increase in 

visitor numbers to existing footpaths on the SPA would be small. As such, no impacts are 

predicted that could result in an adverse effect to the site’s integrity.” 

 

6.14 In detail the applicant’s HRA Report states on pages 54-55 that: 

 

“5.8.22    St Catherine’s Road SANG is a small site approximately 2km from the SPA. The 

site is not listed as one of Surrey Heath Borough Council’s strategic SANG and so no 

information relating to the position of its boundary or size has been obtained (Surrey 

Heath BC, 2019). However, based on the site’s signage it is assumed that the SANG 

occupies a triangular parcel of grassland approximately 1.4ha in area between St 

Catherine’s Road and Frith Hill Road. The assumed area of the SANG within the Order 

Limits is approximately 0.7ha (50% of the total SANG area). Within 1km of the SANG 

there is open-access woodland at Frimley Fuel Allotments and Frith Hill. These extensive 

areas of woodland would likely be suitable alternative locations for any small amount of 

recreational displacement from the SANG for the short duration of construction. 

 

5.8.23   Windlemere SANG is a strategic SANG within the borough of Surrey Heath. The 

SANG has a total area of approximately 15ha (Aspect Ecology, 2017). The area of the 

SANG within the Order Limits is approximately 1.5ha (10% of the total SANG area). No 

current SANG car parks would be directly affected by the project. The Turf Hill area of the 

SPA is approximately 100m to the west of Windlemere SANG, albeit on the opposite side 

of the A322 dual carriageway. A Surrey Wildlife Trust car park allowing access to the 

Brentmoor Heath area of the SPA lies approximately 300m to the west of Windlemere 

SANG. As such, a measure of displacement could result from Windlemere SANG to the 

SPA via Brentmoor Heath. However, it is reasonable to assume that the unaffected area 

of SANG would be sufficient to absorb any displaced recreational activity. In addition, the 

5.5ha West End Recreation Ground is an area of common land approximately 410m from 

Windlemere SANG that may also act as a receptor for any displaced recreational activity 

for the short duration of construction.” 

 

Page 35



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

20   October 2019 
 

 

6.15 This assessment clearly relies on unverified assumptions.  The Council is not satisfied 

with these conclusions and considers that there remains the potential for likely 

significant effects on the SPA, for the reasons set out below. 

 

6.16 First, new development is specifically allocated to one SANG and this can only be 

considered as the appropriate mitigation for that particular development, rather than a 

range of SANGs, especially in relation to bespoke SANGs such as at St Catherine’s Road. 

Therefore, if the purposes of the SANG are compromised during the construction of the 

pipeline, as will likely be the case due to the intrusion of artificial structures and impacts 

on the tranquility of the site, the impacts on the Thames Basin Heaths SPA will likely be 

significant, with individuals looking to the SPA as an alternative source of recreation.  

 

6.17 Second, the likelihood of this recreational displacement is exacerbated when it is 

acknowledged that St Catherine is one of the only SANGs in the west of Surrey Heath and 

Windlemere SANG is in very close proximity to the Thames Basin Heaths, increasing the 

potential displacement of residents onto SPA sites.  

 

6.18 Third, and associated with this, there are potential long term impacts, for example, for 

individuals visiting the site during the pipeline’s construction in the area.  If access is 

restricted, even temporarily, visitors might be deterred from using the site in future, 

especially if it was the first time the site had been visited for some time. Moreover, it is 

the Council’s understanding from recent discussions with the applicant that the 

construction compound proposed on St Catherine’s Road SANG could be in place for a 

matter of years, rather than months, and there are currently no DCO provisions to limit 

the time for which the applicant can undertake works on the SANG.  Irrespective of this 

point, SANGs are required to be managed in perpetuity.  

 

6.19 Finally, the temporary loss of other open space during construction could, along with the 

temporary loss of SANG, exacerbate recreational pressures on the SPA.  This would be 

the case at proposed construction compound 5B, proposed on an amenity area in 

Balmoral Drive in Frimley that, as acknowledged by paragraph 16.4.36 of the applicant’s 

Planning Statement (document ref. 7.1) is ‘of local importance for informal recreation’. 

 

6.20 The Council manages St Catherines Road SANG and applies a light touch management 

approach to ensure that the site is semi-natural in character and tranquil for residents 

visiting the site. A general layout plan for St Catherines Road SANG is provided at 

Appendix SH-LIR2, which was submitted as part of the SANG management plan for the 

Clewnborough School Development planning application (Planning reference number 

09/0500). The SANG is valued and well used by the local community and the Council has 

on a number of occasions received positive feedback from residents regarding the quality 

of the SANG and the biodiversity it supports.  

 

Page 36



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

21   October 2019 
 

 

6.21 On evaluation of the current order limits within St Catherine’s Road SANG, including the 

siting of a temporary construction site to include facilities for workers, the functioning of 

the SANG will likely be compromised and, as a consequence, the impact on the Thames 

Basin Heaths SPA will likely be significant. Although it is noted that the construction of 

the pipeline will be within reduced working width and would not include the whole area 

identified in the order limits, the impact will none the less be significant, especially as it 

incorporates and compromises the SANGs circular walk. Therefore, based on the 

information that has been submitted to date, the impact is considered by the Council to 

be unacceptable.  

 

6.22 No justification has been provided by the applicant as to why three construction 

compounds are required in this part of Surrey Heath within a 1,000 metre stretch of the 

pipeline.  It is requested that ExA invites Esso to consider removing the St Catherine’s 

Road construction compound and use the Balmoral Drive construction compound and/or 

the logistics hub on Deepcut Bridge Road, which connects to St Catherine’s Road via Frith 

Hill Road. This would significantly reduce the impact upon the St Catherine’s Road SANG. 

 

6.23 In view of these concerns it is unclear to the Borough Council why Valley Road, which 

runs parallel to Frith Hill Road was not considered as a preferred pipeline route.   The 

length of pipeline along St Catherine’s Road would be marginally longer but it would 

avoid an impact upon the SANG.   

 

6.24 The appropriate site layout and housekeeping measures set out in the Code of 

Construction Practice (Appendix 16.1 of application document 6.4) are generic, whilst 

the potential impacts at St Catherine’s Road SANG are very specific and therefore require 

specific and bespoke mitigation measures to minimise potential adverse effects. 

Moreover, in their current forms, good practice measures OP044, G285, G76 are 

considered insufficient to conclude that there will be no likely significant impact on the 

Thames Basin Heaths SPA. It is noted that there are very few references to the St 

Catherine’s Road SANG throughout the application documents submitted. The Council is 

continuing to work with the applicant to seek the necessary mitigation, but at this stage 

the Council considers that there remains the potential for likely significant effects on the 

SPA due to the impact on St Catherine’s Road SANG. 

 

6.25 On evaluation of the current order limits in Windlemere, provided that disturbance to 

the SANG is minimised and the circular walk is retained during construction, the Council 

agrees that the impact will likely be negligible on the Thames Basin Heaths SPA.  

                                                           
4 OP04 - Principal pedestrian routes within SANGs crossing the working area would be managed with access only closed for 
short periods while construction activities occur. Additional signage for diversions on to alternative existing paths will be 
utilised as appropriate. 
5 G28 - Construction workers would undergo training to increase their awareness of environmental issues. More details 
provided on page 16 of Appendix 16.1, Application Document 6.4. 
6 G7 - Appropriate site layout and housekeeping measures would be implemented by the contractor(s) at all construction 
sites. More details provided on page 16 of Appendix 16.1, Application Document 6.4. 

Page 37



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

22   October 2019 
 

 

Great Crested Newts 

6.26 The pipeline is routed through Windlemere SANG, passing between ponds used by a 

Great Crested Newt meta-population. Although the pipeline would not directly affect the 

ponds, Great Crested Newts can roam widely from water features, with the potential to 

be affected adversely by pipeline construction.  Although mitigation measures have been 

proposed by Esso, the impact on the Great Crested Newt population will likely be 

negative due to the location of the replacement pipeline, as detailed above.  The severity 

of this impact will depend on the time of year when construction takes place.  The 

Borough Council requests that ExA seeks specific advice from Natural England on the 

protection of this newt metapopulation and ensures that appropriate protective 

measures are provided for in the draft DCO. 

Trees 

6.27 The construction of the pipeline will result in the loss of a significant number of trees, 

especially in the Frith Hill area near Frimley and Turf Hill near Lightwater. Surrey Heath 

is one of the most wooded boroughs in England and trees play an important role in the 

character of the Borough.  The Council is in continuing discussion with the applicant 

(including the approach to replacement trees), but at this stage the impact on trees is 

considered to be negative and significant. 

 

6.28 Specifically, the Borough Council is concerned that inadequate attention has been given 

in the DCO application to the presence of trees at: 

 

 Balmoral Drive Frimley; 

 Frith Hill, Frimley; 

 The Maultway (B3015), Heatherside; 

 Red Road (B310) between Camberley and Lightwater; 

 Turf Hill, Lightwater; 

 Rural areas in the eastern part of the borough, where the proposed pipeline would 

cut through wooded field boundaries. 

 

6.29 It is noted that significant concerns have been raised by residents in the Lightwater area 

in relation to the loss of trees in Turf Hill and the potential impact on tree roots within 

close proximity to residential properties north of the pipeline’s order limits.  Further 

details on this issue are set out in the People and Communities section of this LIR.  

 

Landscape and visual impacts 

6.30 Environmental Statement Appendix 10.3 (application document 6.4) provides schedules 

of the visual impacts of the proposed pipeline.  During construction, there would be 

significant short-term visual impacts on a number of residential properties near 

Heatherside and Lightwater.  Such visual impacts will be exacerbated in the long term by 

the likelihood that a significant number of trees will be removed, especially in the 

Page 38



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

23   October 2019 
 

 

Lightwater area. During construction there would be a small magnitude of impact on the 

public right of way east of Heatherside of minor significance and on a public right of way 

at Staple Hill at Chobham Common.  

6.31 SHBC accepts that, in most cases, landscape and visual effects of the proposals are minor 

and temporary.  The main propensity for landscape and visual harm relates to tree loss.  

The Council considers the reinforced DCO provisions proposed in the preceding section 

of this LIR would address this point. 

 

Noise, air quality and disturbance 

6.32 The pipeline route passes close to residential properties in Frimley Green. Although it is 

noted that the ‘Noise and Vibration Management Plan’ submitted by the applicant will 

seek to minimise and mitigate the impact of construction on residential areas, there will 

nonetheless be an impact for local residents. In some cases, the proximity of the order 

limits and areas for construction are considered to generate unnecessary noise and 

disturbance to adjacent residential properties and community facilities, especially along 

Balmoral Drive.  

 

6.33 It is noted that Requirement R6: Construction Environmental Management Plan includes 

provision for the submission and local approval of a Noise and Vibration Management 

Plan.  The Council is generally content that this will enable specific local noise sensitivities 

to be taken into consideration.  On Balmoral Drive, account needs to be taken of the 

effects of noise disturbance on Frimley Community Centre and Frimley Baptist Church. 

 

6.34 It is noted that aside from the concerns raised regarding the impact of works on St 

Catherine’s Road SANG, the siting of a construction compound has the potential to cause 

distribution and noise disturbance to local residents as a result of construction vehicles 

being directed along residential roads. As previously noted, it is the Council’s 

understanding that the construction compound could be in place for a matter of years, 

and although the compound would not be in use throughout such time, there could be 

significant and prolonged disturbance to local residents. Further information is required 

from the applicant to fully assess the impact on local residents. 

 

People and communities 

6.35 The routing of the pipeline is in close proximity to residential properties in Frimley Green 

and Lightwater. The construction of the pipeline will therefore have an impact on local 

residents, both in terms of accessibility and disturbance. 

 

6.36 It is noted that significant concerns have been raised by the residents of Lightwater, 

especially residents of Heronscourt and Colville Gardens, in relation to the Turf Hill 

section of the replacement pipeline. Residents have noted that arboriculture surveys 

Page 39



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

24   October 2019 
 

 

have only recently been made available, however the impact on trees in this area is yet 

to be fully understood. The routing of the pipeline in this area will likely result in the loss 

of a significant number of trees and will potentially give rise to significant impacts on the 

local community including loss of visual amenity, potential impacts on flood risk, 

reduction in noise abatement from Red Road, traffic disruption associated with Red Road 

and damage to the roots of trees having the potential to damage local properties and 

the impact on the environment. 

 

6.37 In addition, residents of Lightwater, especially the residents of Heronscourt and Colville 

Gardens, have raised concerns that justification has not been provided as to why the sub-

options that more closely follow the existing pipeline (F1b and F1c) were not selected.  

The Council recognises that local residents also raise concerns in respect of the change 

in the pipeline route since the previous consultation and their opportunity for 

engagement in this process. Residents are concerned also about the increased 

biodiversity net loss of the selected route, including impacts on Sand Lizards.   

 

6.38 Impacted residents in Lightwater have also raised concerns about disruption during 

construction including: 

 

 the problems of anyone having to sell their property during the two years of 

planning and construction, 

 the daily noise, fumes, dust and disruption for the Residents during the six month 

construction period; 

 traffic congestion for at least six months on the Guildford Road caused by the 

movement of contractor’s vehicles and heavy plant at the entrance to Turf Hill Park. 

 the potential for the considerable loss of trees to increase flood risk in an area with 

a history of flooding.  

 

6.39 The order limits of the pipeline, which includes areas that will be utilised during 

construction, are also in close proximity to a number of community facilities. Notably, 

activities and events at Frimley Baptist Church and Frimley Community Centre in Frimley 

Green are likely to be impacted when the pipeline is being constructed, for example due 

to noise and highway impacts. Whilst it is noted that there is a commitment to not carry 

out works on Sundays, there are a number of events that take place on weekdays, 

including the potential for funeral services at Frimley Baptist Church. Without a clear 

channel of communication between the community facilities affected and the applicant, 

which to date the Council understands is not in place, this could have a negative impact 

on local communities. 

 

6.40 In respect of the effects on local businesses, the Council requests that Esso and its 

contractors liaise constructively with business owners during pipeline construction.  In 

particular it is noted that the proposed pipeline passes close to the SC Johnson household 

products factory in Frimley, the sole access to which is from Frimley Green Road, crosses 

Page 40



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

25   October 2019 
 

 

the Pine Ridge golf course at Frith Hill and weaves between greenhouses at the Dingley 

Dell wholesale nursery on Windlesham Road, to the north-west of Chobham. 

 

Highways and transport 

6.41 It is noted that 110m of St Catherine’s Road, 375m of Balmoral Drive and 570m of Red 

Road is affected by the construction of the pipeline. It is expected that the estimated 

duration of works at Red Road will be seven weeks, and five weeks for the other two 

roads affected.  Red Road is an important road link between the west and east of the 

Borough and it is likely that during construction there will be significant delays expected 

for this area. 

 

6.42 Balmoral Drive is the only access point to Frimley Community Centre, Beaumaris Parade, 

Braemar Close and Penshurst Rise and therefore construction of the pipeline has the 

potential to cause moderate disruption to local business and residents. However it is 

noted that access will not be severed to the residential properties and businesses in this 

area during construction of the pipeline. 

 

Security and safety 

6.43 As previously noted, the pipeline is routed in close proximity to residential properties in 

the south of Lightwater. The impact on trees associated with the construction of the 

pipeline has the potential to impact on the safety of properties in the south of 

Lightwater. The Council understands that the applicant has committed to the removal of 

unstable trees which pose a risk to residential properties. The reinforced DCO provisions 

proposed by the Councils (as set out Chapter 2) will assist in this respect. 

 

6.44 The temporary logistic hubs have the potential to be at risk from unauthorised entry, 

vandalism and theft. The Council understands that the applicants will be implementing 

a high level of security at such sites and therefore considers the impact on security to be 

negligible. 

 

Geological, soil and contamination impacts 

6.45 The routing of the pipeline and its relatively shallow depth are not envisaged to conflict 

with solid geological formations.  Geological impacts are likely to be confined to 

superficial deposits, such as fluvial deposits arising from the Blackwater Valley. The open-

cut nature of the project - with topsoil to be stored in bunds to the side of the pipe 

corridor, subsoil to be excavated to provide for the pipe trench and restoration after 

work is complete - results in a neutral effect. Whilst there would be some temporary loss 

of versatile agricultural land, and permanent loss of some sub-soil off site, this land is not 

considered to be the most versatile agricultural land and it would not be permanently 

sterilised, resulting in a negligible impact. 

Page 41



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

26   October 2019 
 

 

 

6.46 The routing of the pipeline though Surrey Heath has the potential to reveal contaminated 

land, especially within land owned currently or previously by the Ministry of Defence. 

However, due to Esso’s approach to contaminated land, it is considered the impact of 

this will be negligible.   

 

Historic environment 

6.47 In Chapter 9 of Environmental Statement, para 9.5.33 it is noted that there is the 

potential for significant effects due to construction on Chobham Common, which is 

identified as a Historic Landscape. Approximately 775m of the project is within Chobham 

Common, although this includes sections of trenchless crossings. Outside Chobham 

Common, the Council considers that the impact on the historic environment will be 

negligible on the basis of good practice measures identified in Environmental Statement 

Chapter 9: Historic environment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

27   October 2019 
 

 

7 Conclusion 

 

7.1 As previously noted, the Council does not object to the principle of the proposed 

replacement pipeline and recognises the need identified in the applicants planning 

statement in Chapter 2 (Application document 7.1). However, the Council does have 

concerns in relation to specific issues arising from the proposals, as outlined in this 

report, and continues to engage with the applicant to seek to address these issues. 

 

7.2 The Council considers that the proposal is broadly compliant with policies CP1 (Spatial 

Strategy), CP2 (Sustainable Development and Design) and DM17 (Heritage) of the CSDMP 

2012. 

 

7.3 The Council considers that based on the information submitted by the applicant, the 

proposals are not compliant with Policies CP13 (Green Infrastructure), CP14A 

(Biodiversity and Nature Conservation), CP14B (European Sites), DM9 (Design Principles) 

and DM15 (Protection of Greenspaces and Recreational Facilities).  

 

7.4 With regard to the areas in the Borough where the pipeline is routed through the Thames 

Basin Heaths SPA, which relates to Policy CP14A and CP14B, it is the Council’s view that 

independent specialist ecological advice should be provided directly to the ExA. The 

Council reiterates that it considers the ExA should direct written questions towards 

Natural England and request that they haverepresentation at the relevant hearings to 

ensure that nature conservation interests are properly represented.  

 

7.5 In respect of the proposals impact on SANG, specifically St Catherines Road SANG, the 

proposals are not compliant with Policies CP13, CP14A, CP14B and DM15. The applicants 

assessment of SANG in the Habitats Regulation Assessment are unverified and there 

remains potential for likely significant effects on the SPA for the reasons set out in 

paragraphs 6.15 - 6.21 of this report. Whilst the Council is working with the applicant to 

seek to secure design and mitigation measures that would clearly demonstrate that 

there will be no potential for likely significant effects on the SPA. At this moment in time 

the application documents submitted do not provide adequate mitigation and design 

measures to address the potential for likely significant effects on the SPA and the Council 

therefore concludes that the proposals are not compliant with policy CP14B of the 

CSDMP (2012), the Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 and the Habitats Regulations. 

 

7.6 In respect of Great Crested Newt populations on Windlemere SANG, which relates to 

policy CP14A, the Council requests that the ExA seeks specific advice from Natural 

England on the protection of the newt meta population in this area and ensures that 

appropriate protective measures are provided for in the draft DCO. 

 

7.7 With regard to the protection of trees in the Borough, which relates to CSDMP policy 

DM9, the Council does not consider that the DCO requirements provide the level of 

Page 43



ESSO PETROLEUM COMPANY LIMITED: SOUTHAMPTON TO LONDON PIPELINE PROJECT 
SURREY Heath Local Impact LOCAL IMPACT REPORT          

28   October 2019 
 

 

protection sufficient for the DCO being made. The Council therefore requests that the 

ExA invites the applicant to submit a Tree Survey and Protection Strategy for 

consideration during the DCO examination. The DCO should then enforce compliance 

with the Tree Survey and Protection Strategy and ensure its implementation at the local 

level through the new requirement proposed by the Council at paragraphs 2.16 – 2.17 of 

this report. 

 

7.8 The Council is reliant on statutory bodies and Surrey County Council to determine the 

compliance of the proposals with policies CP11, DM10 and DM11 of the CSDMP (2012). 

The Council requests that the ExA secures reassurances from Surrey County Council, in 

its capacity as the lead local flood authority and highways authority, that the applicants 

proposed measures to address the increased risk of flooding in areas of the Borough, 

along with the highways impacts on the Council’s local road network, are appropriate 

and robust. In respect of flood risk, the Council also requests that the ExA seek 

reassurances from the Environment Agency, the statutory body for flooding. 

 

 

Page 44



 

 
SURREY HEATH BOROUGH COUNCIL    h 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

THAMES BASIN HEATHS SPECIAL 
PROTECTION AREA AVOIDANCE 

STRATEGY SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      March 2019 

 

 
 

Page 45



 

Foreword 

 
 
 
 
This document updates the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Avoidance 
Strategy SPD 2012 and takes into account guidance that has been issued since the 
2012 SPD was adopted. The SPD sets out the approach that Surrey Heath Borough 
Council will take to avoiding harm to the Special Protection Area as a result of new 
housing development.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Produced by the 
 

Planning Policy and Conservation Team 

Surrey Heath Borough Council 
Surrey Heath House 

Knoll Road 
Camberley 

Surrey GU15 3HD 
 

Email: Policy.Consult@surreyheath.gov.uk 
 

Tel 01276 707100 
 

www.surreyheath.gov.uk 
 
 

  

Page 46

mailto:Policy.Consult@surreyheath.gov.uk


 

CONTENTS 

Executive Summary 4 

1 Introduction 5 

2 Principles for avoidance of harm 10 

3 Types of Development Affected 12 

4 SANGs in Surrey Heath 14 

5 Guidelines for the creation of SANG 20 

6 Strategic SANG Contributions 21 

7 SAMM Contributions 24 

Glossary 27 

Abbreviations 29 

Appendix 1: Map of Strategic SANGs Allocated to 30 

Appendix 2: Guidelines for Creation of SANGs 31 

Appendix 3: Summary of SANG costs 32 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



4 

 

Executive Summary 
 

The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA) was designated in March 
2005 and is protected from adverse impact under European and UK law.  Research 
conducted on behalf of Natural England in 2005 indicated that the existing level of 
recreational pressure is having a detrimental impact on the three species of Annex I 
birds (nightjar, woodlark and dartford warbler) for which the SPA was designated.  The 
breeding success of these ground-nesting birds is affected by disturbance from people 
and their pets using the SPA for recreational purposes. 
 
Due to this fact, and to the level of house-building expected in the Thames Basin 
Heaths area, Natural England objected to all planning applications for a net increase 
in residential development within 5km of the SPA.  This affected 11 Local Authorities 
in Berkshire, Hampshire and Surrey.  The whole of Surrey Heath borough is within 
5km of the SPA. 
 
In order to allow housing development while still complying with the Habitats 
Regulations, the affected local authorities established the Thames Basin Heaths Joint 
Strategic Partnership Board (JSPB) to agree a strategy for the long-term protection of 
the SPA.   
 
This SPD takes forward the agreed approach set out in the Delivery Framework. This 
SPD links to the following adopted policies, or successive policies, including Policy 
NRM6 of the South East Plan and Policy CP14A & B of the Surrey Heath Core 
Strategy and Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 
This document provides further guidance in relation to the avoidance measures set 
out in Policy CP14A & B, and successive policies, which the council will facilitate 
through collection of developer contributions.  This involves the provision of Suitable 
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) and contributions towards Natural England’s 
Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) project. Developers should 
provide avoidance and mitigation measures through this approach to provide 
avoidance and mitigation for the impact of new residential development on the SPA. 
 
 

Page 48



5 

 

1 Introduction 
 

Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area  
 

1.1 The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA) was designated on the 
9th March 2005. It is protected from adverse effects under The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (or as subsequently amended) and 
European Directive 2009/147/EC. The Regulations deal with both the impact of 
developments and of Development Plans upon European Sites which include 
SPAs. Local Planning authorities are identified as a “competent authority” for the 
purposes of determining whether or not a proposed development scheme or 
development plan document is likely to have a significant effect upon the SPA.  
The effect of the Regulations is to require Local Planning Authorities to ensure 
that any proposed development scheme or Development Plan will not adversely 
affect the integrity of the SPA. 

 
1.2     The SPA is a network of heathland sites which are designated for their ability to 

provide a habitat for the three following internationally important rare bird 
species: dartford warbler, woodlark and nightjar. It is spread across nine local 
authorities in Berkshire, Hampshire and Surrey.  The Thames Basin Heaths SPA 
covers approximately 23% of the Borough as shown on Map 1. Within Surrey 
Heath Borough Council the SPA comprises of Chobham Common, Brookwood 
Heaths, Colony Bog to Bagshot Heath and Broadmoor to Bagshot Woods and 
Heath. 

 
 1.3 All 3 species of birds nest on the ground or at low level and so are easily disturbed 

or harmed by human activity. In particular, this includes recreational activity such 
as dog walking. Predation by domestic cats is also a risk factor, as is the potential 
for fly tipping and arson on the heathland habitat. 

 
 

Document Status 

 
1.4 This SPD provides an updated avoidance and mitigation strategy to show how 

the adverse effects of development on the integrity of the Thames Basin Heaths 
SPA in Surrey Heath Borough Council should be avoided and mitigated. 

 
1.5 The following table outlines the elements of national, regional and local policies 

that are relevant to this SPD. 
 
 Table 1: Policy context 

Adopted Policy Policy Reference Notes 

National Planning 
Policy Framework  
(NPPF) (2019) 

Chapter 15 
(Conserving and 
enhancing the natural 
environment) 

Para. 177 presumption in favour 
of sustainable development does 
not apply where the plan or 
project is likely to have a 
significant effect on a habitats 
site (either alone or in 
combination with other plans or 

Page 49



6 

 

projects), unless an appropriate 
assessment has concluded that 
the plan or project will not 
adversely affect the integrity of 
the habitats site. 

South East Plan 
(2009) 

NRM6 Thames Basin 
Heaths Special  
Protection Area 

The South East Plan (2009) was 
partially revoked on 25 March 
2013. Policy NRM6, which deals 
with the Thames Basin Heaths 
Special Protection Area, remains 
in place. This sets out the 
principle of the protection 
of the Thames Basin Heaths  
SPA in the South East. 

Surrey Heath  
Borough Council 
Core Strategy and 
Development  
Management  
Policies (February 
2012) 

CP14A Biodiversity 
and Nature 
Conservation 
 
CP14B European 
Sites 

These policies set out the 
principle of the protection of the 
Thames Basin Heaths SPA in 
Surrey Heath.  
Any successive local policies will 
take forward the principles set 
out in CP14A and B. 

 
 
1.6 The above plans and policies are supplemented by the following guidance: 
 
 Table 2: Guidance 

Guidance Notes 

Thames Basin Heaths Special 
Protection Area Supplementary 
Planning Document (January 
2012) 

This is the Council’s existing Avoidance 
Mitigation Strategy to show how the effects 
of new (and principally) residential 
developments on the Thames Basin Heaths 
SPA should be avoided and mitigated in 
accordance with the Development Plan. The 
updated Thames Basin Heaths Special 
Protection Area Supplementary Planning 
Document (2019) replaces this guidance. 

Thames Basin Heaths SPA 
Delivery Framework (12 
February 2009) (Thames Basin 
Heaths Joint Strategic 
Partnership Board) 

This Delivery Framework has been endorsed 
by the Thames Basin Heaths Joint Strategic 
Partnership Board and is recommended to 
the local authorities affected by the Special 
Protection Area (SPA). The Board 
encourages local authorities to use the 
Framework to guide the production or 
revision of local avoidance and mitigation 
strategies. 

 
 

Page 50



7 

 

 Sustainability Appraisal 

 
1.7 In accordance with the European Directive 2001/42/EC “on the assessment of 

the effects of certain plans and programmes on the environment” (SEA 
Directive), as transposed into law by The Environmental Assessment of Plans 
and Programmes Regulations 2004, local authorities are obliged to undertake a 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) on any plan or programme prepared 
for town and country planning or land use which sets the framework for future 
development consent of certain projects (which includes development sites over 
0.5 hectares). 

 
1.8 Under Article 3(3) and 3(4) of the SEA Directive, SEA is not required for plans 

and programmes which “determine the use of small areas at a local level” or 
which only propose “minor modifications to plans and programmes”, except 
where they are determined to be likely to have significant environmental effects. 

 
1.9  Surrey Heath Borough Council therefore undertook a SEA Screening. Before 

making a determination under Regulation 9 the three consultation bodies 
(Natural England, the Environment Agency and Historic England) were consulted 
on the SEA Screening Report. 

 
 Habitats Regulation Assessment 

 
1.10   The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (or as subsequently 

amended) implement in Great Britain the requirements of the EU Directive on the 
Conservation of Natural Habitats and of Wild Flora and Fauna (the Habitats 
Directive) (Council Directive 92/43/EEC). They also protect areas classified 
under Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 
30 November 2009 on the conservation of wild birds (codified version) (the Birds 
Directive). The Regulations aim to protect a network of sites that have rare or 
important habitats and species in order to safeguard biodiversity. 

 
1.11 Under Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive, Competent Authorities have a duty 

to ensure that all the activities they regulate have no adverse effect on the 
integrity of any of the Natura 2000 sites. The Competent Authority (in this case 
Surrey Heath Borough Council) must assess the possible effects of a plan or 
project on any Natura 2000 sites through a Habitats Regulations Assessment. 
The European Court of Justice judgement in 'People Over Wind, Peter 
Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta C-323/17' established the legal principle that a full 
appropriate assessment (AA) must be carried out for all planning applications 
involving a net gain in residential units in areas affected by the Thames Basin 
Heaths SPA, and that a Habitats Regulations Screening Assessment cannot take 
into account any proposed measures to mitigate any likely impact at the 
screening stage. The council is therefore now required to carry out a full 
Appropriate Assessment of relevant plans and planning applications. 

 
1.12 The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Avoidance Strategy SPD 

elaborates on Policies CP14A & B of the Core Strategy & Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document (DPD) and South East Plan 
Policy NRM6 which have already undergone HRA. Further, the SPD only sets 
out guidance on the approach to avoiding impacts on the SPA and does not set 

Page 51



8 

 

out proposals for individual SANGs. Therefore, there is no pathway which gives 
rise to significant effect either alone or in combination. It is therefore considered 
that an Appropriate Assessment is not required. 

 
 
 Consultation 
 
1.11 This document was available for public consultation between 30th November 

2018 and 11th January 2019. 
 
 

Page 52



9 

 

 

Map 1: Thames Basin Heaths Special 
Protection Area (shown in green hatching) 

 

P
age 53



10 

 

2 Principles for avoidance of harm 
 

2.1 Due to the large number of local authorities involved and the cumulative nature 
of the impacts (a result of many individual housing applications) a co-ordinated 
approach to avoidance measures has been necessary and the Thames Basin 
Heaths Joint Strategic Partnership Board (JSPB) has been set up to provide the 
vehicle for joint working between local authorities and other organisations 
responsible for protection of the Thames Basin Heaths SPA. The JSPB includes 
Member representation for each affected Local Authority together with a number 
of stakeholders. 

2.2 In February 2009 the JSPB endorsed a strategic Delivery Framework.  This 

recommends a combination of three avoidance measures to protect the Thames 

Basin Heaths from the impacts of new residential development: 

 The establishment of a 400 metre buffer around the SPA within which no net 
new residential development will be permitted.    

 The provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG). 

 Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) measures, co-

ordinated visitor management across the whole of the publically accessible 

SPA. 

The 400 metre Buffer 
 

2.3 There is a presumption against residential development within 400m of the SPA 
boundary. This is measured as the crow flies from the perimeter of the SPA to 
the point of access on the curtilage of a dwelling, as recommended by the Joint 
Strategic Partnership Board and  set out in the Thames Basin Heaths SPA 
Delivery Framework (12 February 2009). Where there are multiple points of 
access on the curtilage of a dwelling, the 400m buffer will be measured to the 
point of access that is closest in distance to the SPA, as the crow flies. This 
includes both pedestrian and vehicular accesses. 
 

2.4 The impact of net new residential development within 400m of the SPA is likely 
to be such that it is not possible to conclude no adverse effect on the integrity of 
the SPA. Therefore there is a presumption against development that results in a 
net increase in residential units within the 400m buffer zone. A Habitats 
Regulations Assessment will be needed, and agreed with Natural England, to 
demonstrate that any development within this zone will not have an adverse 
effect on the SPA and/or the acceptability of any avoidance and mitigation 
measures provided. 
 
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) 
 

2.5 Two avoidance measures are promoted by Natural England and endorsed by the 
JSPB.  These are Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) and Strategic 
Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM).  SANGs are areas that currently 
are not in use for recreation and so are a new alternative provision or are existing 
areas that are significantly under-used and so have the capacity to absorb 

Page 54



11 

 

additional recreational use.  In the case of the latter category it is important to 
consider why the site is under-used and whether it truly represents an alternative 
resource.  SANGs should be in place before any development is occupied so 
that the risk of additional recreational pressure arising on the SPA is avoided. 

 
2.6 Access Management is seen as an important part of the avoidance strategy for 

Surrey Heath.  It is proposed to promote the use of SANGs by improving the 
accessibility of sites, identifying recreational routes (in particular circular walks 
easily accessible from residential areas) and promoting these measures. 

 
2.7 Sections 4 and 5 of this document set out the approach for SANGs to be pursued 

within Surrey Heath.   
 

Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) 

 
2.7 SAMM is a project to provide management of visitors across the entire SPA and 

monitoring of the impact.  It addresses the issue of cumulative impact of new 
development across the SPA.  

 
2.8 The SAMM project aims to: 
 

 Promote SANGs as new recreational opportunities for local people and 
particularly encourage their use during breeding bird season; 

 Create new volunteering opportunities; 

 Provide an SPA-wide education programme including through the Thames 
Basin Heath Partnership Website - www.tbhpartnership.org.uk which details 
the project and provides information about SANGs and where to find them; 

 Provide on-the-ground wardening service to supplement existing wardening 
efforts; 

 Demonstrate best practice for strategic access management of visitors and 
visitor infrastructure where the supply of greenspace is heavily dependent on 
protected areas; 

 Monitor visitor usage of SANGs and SPA; 

 Monitor Annex 1 birds on SPA sites.  
 
2.9  SAMM is a joint project between the Local Planning Authorities affected by the 

SPA (namely Guildford, Bracknell Forest, Elmbridge, Rushmoor, Runnymede, 
Waverley, Woking and Wokingham Borough Councils, Hart District Council and 
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead) along with Natural England (as the 
delivery body) and Hampshire County Council (as the administrative body). The 
SAMM Legal Agreement was signed by Surrey Heath Borough Council, Natural 
England and the other ten local authorities affected by SPA issues in July 2011. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 55

http://www.tbhpartnership.org.uk/


12 

 

3 Types of Development Affected 
 

3.1 The duty to consider the possibility of likely significant effect applies to all types 
of development, not just residential.  This document largely concerns itself with 
the effects arising from development falling within Use Classes C2 Residential 
Institutions, C3 Dwelling houses and C4 Houses of Multiple Occupation.  
However, other forms of development may also be required to contribute toward 
or provide avoidance measures within the proposed development.  

 

 C3 (dwellinghouse) 
 
3.2 Developments within Use Class C3 (dwellinghouses) where there is a net gain 

of 1 or more units are considered to give rise to likely significant effect to the SPA 
and will be required to contribute towards avoidance measures (SANG and 
SAMM).  Replacement dwellings will not be required to provide avoidance 
measures.   

 
C2 (residential institutions) 

 
3.3 Developments within Use Class C2 (Residential Institutions) may be considered 

to give rise to likely significant effect to the SPA.  Such developments may be 
required to contribute towards avoidance measures.  Applications for C2 
development will be considered on a case-by-case basis and in reaching a 
decision the Council will take into consideration how the development will be 
used and occupied.  In the case of Residential Institutions with permanent 
residents, such as care/nursing homes, the likely activity levels of the residents 
will be taken into account in assessing whether the development is likely to give 
rise to a significant impact on the SPA.  Natural England will normally be 
consulted on such applications. 
 
Houses of Multiple Occupation 
 

3.4 Conversions from C3 Dwelling Houses to C4 Houses of Multiple Occupation are 
considered to give rise to likely significant effect to the SPA. Such conversions 
are included as permitted development under the General Permitted 
Development Order (2015) (as amended).  However, Article 3(1) of the GPDO 
requires compliance with Regulations 75 to 78 of the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (or as subsequently amended). Conversions such 
as C3 to C4 use must comply with these Regulations and will therefore be 
required to contribute towards avoidance measures (SANG and SAMM). 
 
Hotels (C1) 
 

3.5 For traditional hotels offering short stay accommodation avoidance and 
mitigation measures will generally not be required. However, for hotels located 
within 400m of the SPA with a new car park, measures may be required to ensure 
that the car park cannot be made available to the general public wishing to 
access the SPA. For hotels offering accommodation for longer periods of time, 
such as Apart-hotels where the dwelling is to become the full time address for a 
person, it will be considered likely to have a significant adverse effect in 

Page 56



13 

 

combination with other dwellings and will be required to contribute to avoidance 
and mitigation measures. 

 
Other forms of development 

 
3.6 Proposals for other forms of development either by virtue of proximity to the SPA 

or where the use is quasi-residential will be required to contribute toward 
avoidance measures.  This may include staff accommodation where it becomes 
the full time address for a member of staff. 

 
3.7 Future changes to the GPDO, to other legal/regulatory frameworks or to 

Government policy may mean that certain types of development which currently 
require planning permission may not do so in future. However, if there is a net 
gain in the types of residential units referred to in this section of the document (3 
- Types of Development Affected), the development will be considered to have a 
likely significant effect and will therefore be required to contribute towards or 
provide avoidance measures (SANG and SAMM). 
 

3.8 Mobile or temporary dwellings may be required to contribute towards avoidance 
measures. 

 
3.9 Such cases as set out in paragraphs 3.6 – 3.8 above will be dealt with on an 

individual basis and applicants are advised to seek advice before submitting a 
planning application or carrying out conversions under Permitted Development 
Rights.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



14 

 

4 SANGs in Surrey Heath 
 

Introduction 
 

4.1 SANGs provide alternative recreational land to attract new residents away from 
the Thames Basin Heaths SPA. 
 

4.2 Surrey Heath will provide SANGs for new developments at a standard of at least 
8 hectares per 1,000 head of population as set out in the JSPB Delivery 
Framework. All SANGs, including on-site provision, will be expected as a 
minimum to meet the 8ha per 1,000 new population standard. The provision of 
new SANG will be subject to a case-by-case consultation with Natural England 
and depending on the characteristics of the site or the proposed development, 
as well as its proximity to the SPA, a level of provision in excess of 8ha/1000 
may be required.  
 

4.3 As a guide, it will usually be possible for developments of fewer than 1361 net 
dwellings to take up capacity at strategic SANGs, subject to availability. 
However, it is strongly recommended that developments of more than 100 units 
consider the feasibility of providing bespoke on-site SANG. Strategic SANGs are 
owned and maintained by a relevant local authority or similar body and provide 
avoidance measures for developments that cannot provide their own on-site 
SANG. Further guidance on types of SANGs and the site size threshold is set 
out in paragraphs 4.19 to 4.27 of this document. Information about available 
strategic SANGs is provided on the Council’s website at – 
 https://www.surreyheath.gov.uk/SANG 
 
 
SANG Catchments 
 

4.4 SANGs have catchment areas which are based on the overall size of the SANG. 
Residential developments with a net increase of 10 or more units that are 
allocated to a SANG should be located within the specific SANG’s catchment 
area. SANG catchment areas are as follows: 
 

i) SANG of 2-12ha will have a catchment of 2km 
ii) SANG of 12-20ha will have a catchment of 4km 
iii) SANG of 20ha+ will have a catchment of 5km 

 
4.5 The standards for proximity to SANG apply to all residential developments with 

a net increase of 10 or more units.  Developments with a net increase of less 
than 10 units need not be within a specified distance of a SANG provided that 
overall there is sufficient SANG capacity within the Borough.  Natural England 
have indicated that where a suite of smaller SANGs can be linked through access 
management measures to function in combination as a much larger SANG, this 
will be accepted in lieu of the above. 

                                                
1 This is the minimum number of dwellings necessary to generate a requirement for a minimum 2ha SANG (at 

an average of 1.84 persons per dwelling based on the average occupancy rates for existing allocations for 

strategic SANG capacity in Surrey Heath and a SANG standard of at least 8ha per 1,000 new population). In 

practice SANGs are much larger than 2ha since they must provide a minimum 2.3 - 2.5km walk. 

Page 58

https://www.surreyheath.gov.uk/SANG


15 

 

SANG Capacity 
 
4.6 Capacity at strategic SANGs is based on a tiered structure so that larger houses, 

which are likely to accommodate more people, use up more of the SANG 
capacity than small houses.  This is in line with the approach adopted by 
neighbouring authorities and by the SAMM project.  Therefore rather than being 
considered in terms of the numbers of dwellings, SANGs are considered in terms 
of the number of additional people that can be mitigated for.  Average occupancy 
rates will be taken to be as follows: 

 
Table 3: SANGs Occupancy Rates 

Dwelling Size Occupancy2 

1 bedroom 1.40 

2 bedroom 1.85 

3 bedroom 2.50 

4 bedroom 2.85 

5+ bedroom 3.70 

 
 
4.7 Where calculating the number of bedrooms for the purposes of determining the 

amount of SANG capacity a development requires, additional habitable rooms 
capable of realistic conversion to bedrooms will be included.  Habitable rooms 
capable of future conversion into a bedroom will include, for a dwelling house 
with more than one storey, any room at first floor level and above with an external  
window (excluding bathrooms and the like), with a floor area greater than 6.5 
sqm. 
 

4.8 Carrying capacity refers to the quantity of new visitors or recreational activity that 
a SANG can accommodate without detriment to the site.  For new SANGs with 
no existing usage the carrying capacity will normally be the 8ha per 1,000 
population standard. Further guidance on carrying capacity is provided in 
paragraphs 4.15 to 4.18 of this document. 

 
 
 Delivery of SANG 
 
4.9 Sufficient SANG must be delivered (identified, functional and secured in 

perpetuity) in advance of dwelling occupation to ensure that there is no likely 
significant effect on the Thames Basin Heaths SPA. The Council will seek to 
ensure that adequate SANG capacity is provided in the borough to provide 
avoidance measures for the expected amount and location of development. 
 

4.10 SANGs are expected to be provided and funded in order that they can function 
in perpetuity which is considered to be at least 125 years, in accordance with 

                                                
2 Occupancy rates taken from Natural England’s SAMM Tariff Guidance document, March 2011 and based on 

analysis of Census 2001 data for Thames Basin Heaths Authorities. 

Page 59



16 

 

legislation which defines the ‘in perpetuity’ period (Perpetuities and 
Accumulations Act 2009).  
 

4.11 The in perpetuity provision of SANG means that increased local pressure on the 
Thames Basin Heaths SPA will be offset in perpetuity. In considering what 
represents an “in perpetuity” solution for the purposes of funding, the Council will 
have regard to the following matters as appropriate:   

 The funding must be sufficient for the indefinite future. 

 Where appropriate, as the basis for calculations, regard will be given to the 
statutory definitions of in perpetuity in force at the time.  

 Funding mechanisms must be reliable, workable and enforceable, providing 
sufficient funding for the long term management of the SANG over an 
indefinitely long period to the satisfaction of the Council as the competent 
authority. 
 

4.12 Natural England’s preference is for SANGs to be handed over to local authorities 
or similar bodies. This is to ensure that in perpetuity management can be 
securely provided by a body that is unlikely to become insolvent or dissolve. 
Where SANG land is not owned by the Council, Natural England may require the 
Council to agree ‘step-in rights’ either for itself or an approved and named 
organisation to ensure that mitigation is secure. Step-in rights will always be 
required where a third party management company is proposed to own and/or 
manage a SANG. 
 

4.13 The use of step-in rights will be triggered where a SANG’s Management Plan is 
not being fulfilled, or in instances where it is necessary to ensure a SANG 
remains funded and maintained in perpetuity. In all cases where SANG land is 
not owned by the Council, the Council will seek an interest in the land to ensure 
that the SANG endures and the funding is used as set out in the SANG 
agreements. In every situation where step-in rights are required, they will be 
secured through a Section 106 or similar legal agreement and must be agreed 
with Natural England. 
 

4.14 All proposals for SANGs must include an in depth SANG Management Plan that 
clearly outlines the practical habitat management and explains how the 
requirements of the SANG Guidelines (see section 6) will be met. The SANG 
Management Plan should include details of the managing body or organisation, 
capital costs and costs for the in perpetuity management of the SANG in order 
to demonstrate that the SANG will deliver effective avoidance both at the outset 
and in perpetuity. The Management Plan should have regard to Policies CP14A 
and B of the Surrey Heath Core Strategy (2012) as well as any subsequent 
biodiversity and nature conservation policies in emerging Development Plan 
Documents, and Chapter 15 of the NPPF (Conserving and Enhancing the 
Natural Environment).    
 

4.15 For new SANGs with no existing usage the carrying capacity will normally be the 
8ha per 1,000 population standard.  Carrying capacity refers to the quantity of 
new visitors or recreational activity that a SANG can accommodate without 
detriment to the site. Visitor surveys will be carried out on potential SANGs prior 
to their adoption so that current usage levels can be assessed. Calculations of 

Page 60



17 

 

the capacity of individual SANGs will be set out in the proposal document for 
each SANG and will be agreed with Natural England. 
 

4.16 Where a proposal for a SANG includes the use of existing public open space, 
the existing rights and patterns of public use must be taken into account and 
protected, and a degree of discounting people capacity must be applied to reflect 
this. Discounting is used to account for the existing visitor capacity for a given 
area, meaning the overall capacity of the SANG is reduced because some of the 
visitor capacity is already used. The impact of the proposed improvements to the 
land and accessibility through implementation of a SANG will, to some extent be 
absorbed by existing visitors’ use of the site area. 
 

4.17 In the case of SANGs which have a recognised nature conservation interest, 
capacity will only be released where monitoring indicates that additional usage 
is having no adverse effect and the site can accommodate more recreational 
usage.  In such cases it will be difficult to identify a definitive capacity.  Surrey 
Heath may be reliant on such sites.  For this reason, it may be necessary to 
identify SANG capacity at a rate that is above the 8ha per 1,000 population 
standard.   
 

4.18 The Council will continue to work with other Councils, organisations and separate 
parties to deliver new SANGs. Joint working between the Council and other 
parties may be appropriate where the Council alone cannot provide sufficient 
SANG or there is the opportunity to add value and/or capacity to individual SANG 
by developing a network of SANG across local authority boundaries. 
 

 
 Strategic SANGs 

 
4.19 Strategic SANGs are located throughout Surrey Heath Borough or within close 

proximity of the Borough, in order for their catchment areas to be effective. They 
are owned and maintained either by Surrey Heath Borough Council, or in 
instances such as where the SANG is located outside of the Borough, by an 
adjoining authority. 
 

4.20 The strategic SANGs primarily provide avoidance measures for developments 
that are, in most cases, unable to provide on-site bespoke SANGs. This includes 
small to medium sized developments of less than 136 units. In addition, larger 
developments in the Western Urban Area3, that are unable to realistically provide 
land for SANGs may also be able to use capacity at strategic SANGs. This 
approach may also apply to sites outside this area that have particular, site-
specific circumstances which support the need for off-site SANGs provision, 
subject to the availability of SANG capacity. 
 

4.21 Developments in Surrey Heath that are allocated capacity at strategic SANGs as 
avoidance measures are required to make financial contributions towards their 
enhancement, and ongoing management and maintenance. Contributions are 
currently taken through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), where the 

                                                
3 The Western Urban Area comprises the settlement areas of Camberley, Frimley, Frimley Green and Mytchett. 

Page 61



18 

 

development is CIL liable. In instances where a development is not CIL liable, 
contributions are taken through a unilateral undertaking made pursuant to 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

4.22 A list of strategic SANGs that Surrey Heath allocates to at the time of this 
document’s production is included in Table 4. Appendix 1 is an accompanying 
map which demonstrates the location of the strategic SANGs included in Table 
4 and their catchment areas. 
 
Table 4: Surrey Heath Strategic SANGs 

Strategic SANG Total People 
Capacity for SANG 

Chobham Meadows  2516 

Windlemere  2000 

Shepherds Meadows  1200 

Hawley Meadows  1091 

Swan Lakes  194 

Blackwater Park 434 

Chobham Place 
Woods 

280 

 
 
 Bespoke SANGs 

 
4.23 Bespoke SANGs provide avoidance measures for a specific development. New 

developments of more than 136 units will generally be expected to provide a 
bespoke SANG rather than relying on capacity at Surrey Heath’s available 
strategic SANGs. 
 

4.24 The figure of 136 units is a starting point only, and it is strongly recommended 
that developments of more than 100 units consider the feasibility of providing 
bespoke on-site SANG. In instances where a development of more than 100 
units seeks to use capacity at a strategic SANG, the Council will need to consider 
whether this would result in an overall shortage of capacity within the relevant 
strategic SANG’s catchment area. 
 

4.25 Additionally, in some circumstances, sites of fewer than 100 units may be asked 
to make some on-site provision. Where the Council considers that an individual 
development proposal represents phased or piecemeal development of a larger 
overall site, the total capacity of the larger site will be taken into account when 
reaching a decision on whether an individual proposal should provide on-site 
mitigation.  Proposals for any bespoke SANG will be considered on a case-by-
case basis, in consultation with Natural England.   
 

Page 62



19 

 

4.26 As stated in paragraph 4.20, to help facilitate development at sites located in the 
Western Urban Area4 that are unable to realistically provide land for SANGs on-
site, the Council will consider the possibility of allocating strategic SANG for sites 
over the threshold of 136 units in this location, subject to the availability of 
capacity. 
 

4.27 Use of this capacity will be considered by the Council on a case by case basis, 
as a balance should be maintained which ensures delivery of sustainably located 
sites above 136 units, whilst also providing capacity for smaller sites which rely 
on strategic SANGs. The Council cannot guarantee that all relevant development 
sites can be accommodated through this arrangement. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
4 The Western Urban Area comprises the settlement areas of Camberley, Frimley, Frimley Green and Mytchett. 

Page 63



20 

 

5 Guidelines for the creation of SANG  
 
5.1 The following guidance is based upon the Delivery Framework and Natural 

England’s guidance on the creation of SANG5.     
 

SANGs may be created from: 
 

I. existing open space of SANG quality with no existing public access or 
limited public access, which for the purposes of mitigation could be made 
fully accessible to the public. 

 
II. existing open space which is already accessible but which could be changed 

in character so that it is more attractive to the specific group of visitors who 
might otherwise visit the SPA 

 
III. land in other uses which could be converted into SANG 

 
5.2 No guidance is included on minimum site size, but the requirements set out in 

Appendix 2, including in particular the requirement for a circular walk, may 
affect the practical size of a SANG. 

 
5.3 Appendix 2 sets out a full list of requirements for the creation of new SANGs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

                                                
5 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area: Mitigation Standards for Residential Development (English 

Nature (now Natural England), May 2006) 

Page 64



21 

 

6 Strategic SANG Contributions 
 

6.1 New development will be required to make financial contributions toward both 
SANG and SAMM. Contributions may in part be used to fund the staffing costs 
for monitoring and administration either within the Borough Council or by a joint 
body to oversee parts or all of this work. Monitoring will include surveys to be 
undertaken in future to observe visitor numbers to SANGs and the SPA. 

  
6.2 For developments that must provide avoidance measures and which are not 

providing a bespoke on-site SANG solution, contributions must be made to the 
Council for the use of capacity at one of the strategic SANGs the Council 
allocates to. Capacity at strategic SANGS will generally be reserved for 
applications of up to 136 net additional units, where it is available. However, it 
is recommended that developments of more than 100 units consider the 
feasibility of providing bespoke on-site SANG. Furthermore, in some cases, 
strategic SANG capacity may be reserved for planned developments in 
Camberley Town Centre which cannot realistically provide their own land for 
SANGs. 
 

6.3 Applications that require the allocation of strategic SANG capacity will be 
reserved when the application is registered. Strategic SANG capacity will be 
reserved on a first come, first served basis. This is likewise the case for appeals 
that are registered. In the eventuality that an application is refused, or an appeal 
is dismissed, any capacity that has been reserved for an application will be 
removed. The Council monitors SANG capacity on a monthly basis. Should 
strategic SANG capacity become limited in the Borough, SANG capacity will be 
monitored on a fortnightly basis. 

 
6.4 SANG contributions for Residential (C3) developments are currently taken 

through CIL, which came into effect on 1st December 2014. The Council’s CIL 
Charging Schedule includes a lower tariff for residential developments which 
either do not require avoidance measures, or provide bespoke SANG, and a 
higher tariff for developments which require use of strategic SANG. CIL tariffs 
are charged on a per square metre basis. The cost of the SANG element of CIL 
is £125.00 per square metre. The Council’s CIL Regulation 123 List includes 
strategic (shared) SANG for development that cannot secure its own SANG 
solution as one of the Council’s infrastructure projects to be funded through CIL. 
SANG monies collected through CIL are ring-fenced for the delivery, 
maintenance and management of strategic SANGs in perpetuity. 

 
6.5 For developments that are not CIL liable but nonetheless include a net increase 

in residential units, SANG contributions are secured through a unilateral 
undertaking made pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. If the Council were unable to fund the provision of SANG for 
residential development types that are not CIL liable, the impacts from these 
developments on the SPA could not be avoided. Consequently, such 

Page 65



22 

 

developments would fail to meet the requirements of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations6, which could therefore not be discharged. 
 

6.6 As such, the Council levies a contribution of £112.50 per square metre for 
residential floorspace that is not CIL liable, at sites of 1 or more net new units. 
This could be either new residential floorspace or floorspace that is converted 
to residential use. As with the proportion of CIL that is collected for SANGs, this 
money is ring-fenced for the delivery, maintenance and management of 
strategic SANGs in perpetuity. The types of development affected that are liable 
for this contribution are set out below: 
 
 
Table 5: Development Types Requiring Avoidance Measures for SANG that are 
not CIL Liable 

Development Types Liable for the SANGs Contribution SANGs Contribution 

Change of use to Residential use through the Prior Approval 
process under the General Permitted Development Order 
2015 (as amended) 

£112.50 per sqm of 
residential floorspace 

Self and custom build housing 

Affordable Housing as defined in the NPPF7 

Applications where less than 100sqm residential floor space 
is created 

Conversions to residential use from use class C1, C2 and 
any use class in categories A, B, D, Sui Generis, or other 
uses not categorised (as set out in the Town and Country 
Planning Use Classes Order), through planning permission 
where the applicant can demonstrate that the building or 
part of the building  has been in continual lawful use for a 6 
month period within the last 3 years 

Conversions to a C2 use where the development may be 
considered to give rise to likely significant effect to the SPA 

 
6.7 For residential conversions within use class C3 (Residential) and C4 (Houses 

of Multiple Occupation), where no additional floorspace is created, but the 
overall number of units increases, avoidance measures must also be provided 
through the allocation of SANG. Such development types include, though are 
not limited to, the following: 
 

 sub-divisions of existing Residential (C3) use units; 

 conversions from existing Residential (C3) use dwellings to a House in 
Multiple Occupation (HMO) (C4) use. 

 

                                                
6The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017-

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/made (or as subsequently amended) - 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111176573  
7 Affordable Housing as defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF (Glossary) - 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework  

Page 66

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111176573
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework


23 

 

6.8 The Council recognises that a SANGs contribution of £112.50 per square metre 
would represent a disproportionately high payment where applied to 
developments that are already in residential use. Therefore, for the types of 
development set out in paragraph 6.7, the SANGs contribution will be 
calculated using their net additional person capacity. This will be charged at 
£2,832 per net additional person allocated SANG capacity, based on the 
average occupancy rates for dwellings set out in Table 3. The calculations 
setting out the Council’s per person capacity cost for its strategic SANGs are 
included in Appendix 3. 
 

6.9 For residential sub-divisions, the occupancy of the existing dwelling should be 
taken into consideration when calculating the contributions to be paid.  To give 
a worked example: 

 
Example: Conversion of a 4 bedroom house to two 2 bedroom houses: 
 
Existing Occupancy: 1 x 2.85 (1 x 4 bed) = 2.85 
 
Proposed Occupancy: 2 x 1.85 (2 x 2 bed) = 3.70 
 
Net Occupancy: 3.70 – 2.85 = 0.85 additional people 
 

Therefore mitigation would be required for 0.85 additional people. 
 

6.10 In the case of a conversion from Residential (C3) use to HMO (C4) use, each 
C4 bedroom will be considered to have an average occupancy rate of 1 person, 
unless there is evidence to suggest that a higher rate of occupation will be 
achieved. The occupancy rate of the existing Residential (C3) unit as set out in 
Table 3 will be subtracted from the occupancy of the HMO to calculate the 
number of persons for whom avoidance is required.  A worked example is 
shown below to illustrate this calculation: 

 
 

Example: Conversion of a 3 bed Residential (C3) use to a 5 bed HMO (C4): 
 

Existing Occupancy Rate: 1 x 2.5 (1 x 3 bed) = 2.5 people 
  
Proposed HMO Occupancy Rate: 1 x 5 (5 bedroom HMO) = 5 people 

 
Net Occupancy requiring mitigation: 5 - 2.5 = 2.5 additional people. 
 

6.11 It should be noted that the development types shown in Table 5 and the 
residential conversions listed in paragraph 6.7 may not form an exhaustive list 
of residential developments providing net additional units that are not CIL liable. 
The Council will seek appropriate SANGs contributions for any other residential 
development types that are not CIL liable but are required to provide avoidance 
measures for their impact on the TBH SPA. 
 

6.12 Should the Council undertake a CIL Review, alternative mechanisms for the 
funding of SANG that are separate from CIL will be considered. This may 
include the use of unilateral undertaking made pursuant to Section 106 of the 

Page 67



24 

 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 for all types of residential development 
that require avoidance measures through the allocation of capacity at strategic 
SANGs. 

 
 
Expenditure of SANGs monies 

 
6.13 Money that is collected for SANG will be used for the following potential 

expenditure relating to the delivery of the Surrey Heath Borough Council 
Thames Basin Heaths SPA Avoidance Strategy SPD: 
 

 Initial capital enhancements of new strategic SANGs in accordance with 
the relevant SANG Management Plan. 

 In perpetuity management and maintenance of strategic SANGs. 

 Facilitation costs associated with the operation and review of the 
strategy.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 68



25 

 

7 SAMM Contributions 
 

7.1 Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) is a further avoidance 
measure, which is separate from SANGs. A contribution towards the SAMM 
project is required for all net new residential development. Whereas SANG 
contributions are collected individually by each local authority, the Joint 
Strategic Partnership Board (JSPB) endorsed the principle of a separate single 
tariff to fund SAMM measures, to be collected centrally and used strategically 
across the SPA. SAMM funds are not used for the delivery, maintenance or 
management of SANGs.  

 
7.2 The SAMM Project is funded by Section 106 contributions. The tariff is collected 

from the relevant local authorities by an administrative body (Hampshire County 
Council) and the delivery managed by Natural England. The JSPB has agreed 
that the SAMM contribution should be applied on a 'per bedroom' basis. Local 
occupancy rates have not been applied to the SAMM contribution, as accurate 
and up-to-date figures for occupancy rates in Surrey Heath Borough are not 
currently available. Therefore, sub regional averaged figures are used to 
calculate SAMM contributions. This is based on a programme of access 
management and monitoring measures set out in the Thames Basin Heaths 
SAMM Project Tariff Guidance document, produced by Natural England in 
March 20118. 
 

7.3 The SAMM tariff set out in the guidance document at footnote 8 is the 
contribution which is applied by Surrey Heath Borough Council. In compliance 
with Natural England’s SAMM Tariff Guidance document, this has been 
converted to a 'per bedroom' tariff which equates to £263 per person +8%, as 
set out in the following table: 

 
 Table 6: SAMM Contribution per Unit 

Number of Bedrooms Occupancy Tariff 

1 1.40 £399 

2 1.85 £526 

3 2.50 £711 

4 2.85 £807 

5+ 3.70 £1052 

 

 

7.4 In Addition to the SANG and SAMM tariffs, the Borough Council may require 
developers to meet the Council’s legal costs of processing the legal agreement 
and internal monitoring/administration of the agreement and payments.  The 
details of the requirements for such payments will be provided on the Council’s 
website. 

                                                
8 Thames Basin Heaths Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Project Tariff Guidance document - 

https://www.surreyheath.gov.uk/sammtariff  

Page 69

https://www.surreyheath.gov.uk/sammtariff


26 

 

 
7.5 Contributions may be updated on an annual basis to reflect increased costs or 

works.  This will not affect contributions already paid or committed.  Where a 
development site is entirely self-mitigating through a bespoke onsite SANG, 
contributions will still be required to provide SAMM contributions. Where 
developments are seeking to contribute to a SANG controlled by a third party 
all contributions must be paid to the Borough Council who will release funds to 
the third party in accordance with the arrangements in place to deliver and 
maintain the SANG. An administration cost would also be applied in such 
instances to account for officer hours.  This will ensure that the Council fulfils 
its duty as competent authority to ensure that avoidance measures are provided 
to the required standard and that monies are available for access management 
and monitoring. 

 
 

Page 70



27 

 

Glossary 
 
Appropriate Assessment - An assessment, required under the Habitats Directive, if a plan 
or project is judged as likely to have a significant effect on a Natura 2000 site.  

Community Infrastructure Levy - The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a 

planning charge, introduced by the Planning Act 2008 as a tool for local authorities in 
England and Wales to help deliver infrastructure to support the development of their 

area. 

Competent Authority - The decision maker under the Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2017 (or as subsequently amended): often the local authority, but could be 
a planning inspector or other body responsible for assessing a plan or project.  

Delivery Framework - Sub-regional guidance on Thames Basin Heaths SPA avoidance 

and mitigation methods, produced and endorsed by the Thames Basin Heaths Joint 
Strategic Partnership Board. 

Development Plan - A set of documents, which at the time of this SPD’s adoption 
comprises certain saved policies from the Surrey Heath Local Plan 2000, the Core 
Strategy and Development Management Polices DPD, the Camberley Town Centre Area 
Action Plan, the Surrey Waste and Minerals Plans, and the saved policies in the South 
East Plan. Section 54A of the Town and County Planning Act 1990 requires that planning 
applications and appeals be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Development Plan Document - A Local Development Document which forms part of the 
statutory development plan, examples include the Core Strategy and Area Action Plans. 

Local Plan - A Local Plan forms part of the development plan system set out in the Town 

and County Planning Act 1990. Local Plans set out a vision and a framework for the future 
development of an area, addressing housing, the economy, community facilities and 
infrastructure, the environment, adapting to climate change and securing good design.  
Local Plans (together with any adopted neighbourhood plans) are the starting-point for 
considering whether planning applications can be approved. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - A document that sets out the government’s 

planning policies for England. It guides planning decisions and sets the framework for the 
production of planning documents at the local level.  

Natura 2000 sites - an ecological network of sites (SPAs and SACs) established under the 

Habitats Directive to provide a strong protection for Europe’s wildlife areas.  

Special Area of Conservation - Nature conservation site designated under the 

Habitats Directive for its habitat or species interest.  

Special Protection Area - A nature conservation site designated for its bird interest under 
the Birds Directive, but subject to the assessment procedure set out in the Habitats 
Directive.  

Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Project - Overseen by Natural 

England, implements standard messages and additional wardening and education 
across the Thames Basin Heaths SPA.  

Page 71



28 

 

Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) - Open space, meeting guidelines on 
quantity and quality, for the purpose of providing recreational alternatives to the SPA.  

Supplementary Planning Document - A planning document produced at the local level to 
build upon and provide more detailed advice or guidance on local policies.  
 
Thames Basin Heaths Joint Strategic Partnership - Partnership of Thames Basin 
Heaths-affected Local Authorities and key stakeholders, which form and oversee the 
implementation of sub-regional guidance, for example the Delivery Framework.  

Page 72



29 

 

Abbreviations 
 

CSDM DPD Core Strategy and Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document 

 
CIL   Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
DPD Development Plan Document 
 
EU   European Union 
 
HMO   Houses of Multiple Occupation 
 
JSPB   Joint Strategic Partnership Board 
 
NPPF   National Planning Policy Framework 
 
SAMM   Strategic Access Management and Monitoring 
  

SANG   Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace 
 
SEA   Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
SEP   South East Plan 
 
SPA   Special Protection Area 
 
SPD   Supplementary Planning Document

Page 73



30 

 

Appendix 1: Map of Strategic SANGs Allocated to 
 
 

 

Page 74



31 

 

Appendix 2: Guidelines for Creation of SANGs 
 
The wording in the list below is precise.  The requirements referred to as “must” are essential 
in all SANGs.  Those requirements listed as “should haves” should all be represented within 
the suite of SANGs, but do not all have to be represented in every site. All SANGs should have 
at least one of the features on the “desirable” list. 

 
Must haves 
 For all sites larger than 4ha there must be adequate parking for visitors, unless the site is 

intended for local use, i.e. within easy walking distance (400m) of the developments linked to 
it.  

 It should include a circular walk of 2.3-2.5km around the SANGS.  On sites with car parks 
this should start and finish there. 

 Sites of 10ha or more must have adequate car parking.  These should be clearly signposted 
and easily accessed. 

 Car parks must be easily and safely accessible by car and should be clearly sign posted. 

 The accessibility of the site must include access points appropriate for the particular visitor 
use the SANGS is intended to cater for. 

 The SANGS must have a safe route of access on foot from the nearest car park and/or 
footpath/s 

 SANGS must be designed so that they are perceived to be safe by users; they must not have 
tree and scrub cover along parts of the walking routes 

 Paths must be easily used and well maintained but most should remain unsurfaced to avoid 
the site becoming too urban in feel. 

 SANGS must be perceived as semi-natural spaces with little intrusion of artificial structures, 
except in the immediate vicinity of car parks. Visually-sensitive way-markers and some 
benches are acceptable. 

 All SANGS larger than 12 ha must aim to provide a variety of habitats for users to experience.  

 Access within the SANGS must be largely unrestricted with plenty of space provided where 
it is possible for dogs to exercise freely and safely off lead. 

 SANGS must be free from unpleasant intrusions (e.g. sewage treatment works smells etc). 

 
Should haves 
 SANGS should be clearly sign-posted or advertised in some way. 

 SANGS should have leaflets and/or websites advertising their location to potential users.  It 
would be desirable for leaflets to be distributed to new homes in the area and be made 
available at entrance points and car parks. 

 SANGS should link into longer walks of 5km or more through footpath or other green networks 
 

Desirables 
 It would be desirable for an owner to be able to take dogs from the car park to the SANGS 

safely off the lead. 

 Where possible it is desirable to choose sites with a gently undulating topography for SANGS 

 It is desirable for access points to have signage outlining the layout of the SANGS and the 
routes available to visitors. 

 It is desirable that SANGS provide a natural space with areas of open (non-wooded) 
countryside and areas of dense and scattered trees and shrubs. The provision of open water 
on part, but not the majority of sites is desirable. 

 Where possible it is desirable to have a focal point such as a view point, monument etc within 
the SANGS. 

 Larger SANGS or those grouped close together should aim to provide longer walks of 5km 
or more. 

 Design and management of the SANG should contribute to relevant Biodiversity Opportunity 
Area Priority habitat restoration/creation objectives, where appropriate. 

 

Page 75



32 

 

Appendix 3: Summary of SANG costs 
 
The cost of managing strategic SANGs includes three areas: 
 

 Initial Enhancement works costs associated with bringing a SANG up to the 
necessary standard; 

 Maintenance costs in perpetuity associated with the management of SANGs; 

 Facilitation costs including contingency to forward plan and deliver the 
complete avoidance and mitigation strategy. 

 
A summary of the cost per person for managing strategic SANGs in Surrey Heath is 
detailed in table 7. For residential conversions detailed in paragraph 6.7 of this 
document, the cost per person will be charged at £2,832.  
 
Table 7: summary of the per person costs for SPA Avoidance and Mitigation Works 
and Measures 

SPA Avoidance and Mitigation Works and 
Measures 

Cost per person 

SANG initial enhancement works  £66 

SANG Maintenance cost in perpetuity (125 
years) 

£1,772 

Facilitation sum £994 

Total cost per person  £2,832 

 

Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



2019/0665 Reg Date 22/08/2019 Mytchett/Deepcut

LOCATION: LITTLE ROSEWARNE, 1 ROSEWARNE GARDENS, 
MYTCHETT, CAMBERLEY, GU16 6GT

PROPOSAL: Single storey side and rear extensions, including attached 
garage and revised vehicular access and landscaping.

TYPE: Full Planning Application
APPLICANT: Mr Foster

Rio Homes & Estates Ltd
OFFICER: Ross Cahalane

The application would normally be determined under the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation, however, it has been called in for determination by the Planning 
Applications Committee at the request of Cllr Helen Whitcroft due to concerns 
regarding overdevelopment.

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT subject to conditions

1.0 SUMMARY
1.1 This application seeks planning application for a single storey side extension (including an 

attached garage) and a single storey rear extension, with revised vehicular access and 
landscaping.

1.2 The proposed scale and design of the extensions would respect the design of the original 
bungalow and would not form an over-dominant or incongruous addition. The low single 
storey subservient form is sufficient to avoid a cramped appearance. The proposed 
development would also be at sufficient distance from all surrounding boundaries and 
elevations to avoid adverse harm to residential amenity. Surrey County Highway Authority 
has raised no objection to the proposal, which would provide the same number of 
bedspaces and off-street parking spaces as approved under the wider redevelopment. The 
application is therefore recommended for approval. 

2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1 The application site relates to the existing detached bungalow of Little Rosewarne, within 
the settlement of Mytchett and now with a revised vehicular access off Coleford Close, 
forming part of the wider redeveloped site providing 8 dwellings. The bungalow is of 
probable late 1950s origin and is also now surrounded by the recently approved two storey 
dwellings, with the semi-detached properties of Robert Close to the rear. Public footpath 
No. 31 runs along the front of the site (temporarily diverted to the rear during the 
redevelopment), leading to Potteries Lane on the other side. 

2.2 At the time of the officer site visit, construction of the surrounding additional dwellings had 
mostly completed. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 5 



3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1 18/0001      Erection of 6 No. three bedroom and 2 No. two bedroom houses with 
landscaping, parking and accesses (to Potteries Lane and Coleford Close) 
whilst retaining existing dwellings on reduced residential curtilages and 
footpath link..

Decision: Granted (implemented)

3.2 19/0021     A minor material amendment pursuant to planning permission SU/18/0001 to 
allow amendment to the approved dwellings to include changes to roof for all of 
the dwellings along with an increase in the width of the dwellings for plots 3, 5 
and 6, addition of an integral garage with accommodation over (instead of a 
detached garage), for the dwellings at plot 4 (increasing the number of 
bedrooms for this dwelling from 3 to 4) and amendment to the parking layout 
(with no loss of parking provision).

Decision: Granted (implemented) 

3.3 19/0021/2   A non-material amendment application pursuant to permission SU/19/0021 to 
allow amendment to the approved dwellings to include changes to roof for all of 
the dwellings along with an increase in the width of the dwellings for plots 3, 5 
and 6, addition of an integral garage with accommodation over (instead of a 
detached garage), for the dwellings at plot 4 (increasing the number of 
bedrooms for this dwelling from 3 to 4) and amendment to the parking layout 
(with no loss of parking provision), to allow internal amendments to provide 
dwellings for flats 5 and 6 as three bedroom units rather than two bedroom 
units.  

Decision: Pending

4.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES

4.1 County Highway Authority: No objection [See Section 7.4]

4.2 Council Scientific Officer: No objection, subject to condition [See Section 7.6]

5.0 THE PROPOSAL

5.1 The application proposed is for a single storey side extension (including an attached 
garage) and a single storey rear extension, with revised vehicular access and landscaping.

5.2 The proposed side extension would comprise a crown roof and would have a depth of 
approx. 8.85m, width of approx. 3.2m, eaves height of approx. 2.9m and maximum height 
of approx. 3.97m.

5.3 The proposed rear extension would also comprise a crown roof and would have a depth of 
approx. 3.71m, width of 4.22m, eaves height of approx. 2.9m and maximum height of 
approx. 3.97m.

Page 82



5.4 The proposal also includes a pitched roof hipped at the side, above the existing side 
catslide roof to enclose the side porch to facilitate an ensuite bathroom. This roof would 
have an eaves height of approx. 2.9m and ridge height of approx. 4m. The supporting 
statement also advises that the front elevations of the dwelling and proposed extension 
would have a render finish.

5.5 The proposed extensions would not normally require planning permission individually. 
However, the proposed crown roof forms would adjoin each other and as such, the 
proposal would form a “wraparound” extension for the purposes of the permitted 
development legislation.

5.6 The proposed revised vehicular access would be located further to the southwest, 
replacing the double-width parking bay at the front with a single-width access to facilitate 
the side garage and a turning bay. This would still provide two off-street spaces as 
originally approved.

5.7 The proposed revised landscaping would provide a repositioned boundary hedge along the 
front. 

6.0 REPRESENTATION

6.1 At the time of preparation of this report, five objections have been received (including one 
from the Mytchett, Frimley Green and Deepcut Society), raising the following concerns:

Character

 Cramped development on a small site.

 Overdevelopment.

 Out of keeping with streetscene.

 Area already densely packed with development.

 Will footings damage tree roots?

[See Section 7.2]

Residential amenity

 Loss of privacy.

 Overbearing.

 Loss of light.

[See Section 7.3]

Highways

 Insufficient space for additional parking. 

[See Section 7.4]

Page 83



Other

 Impact on flooding from loss of trees.

 Noise , dust and debris from construction works.

[See Section 7.6]

 Not one of the properties on the surrounding development site are as the original 
plans.

 Current extension could be thin edge of the wedge.

 Will set precedent for further relaxations and additions to the planning permission 
for the wider redevelopment site.

[Each planning application must be considered on its own individual merits.]

7.0 PLANNING ISSUES 

7.1 This application site falls within the settlement area of Mytchett. The site is also within the 
"Historic Route - Lanes" character area as defined under the Western Urban Area 
Character Supplementary Planning Document. The proposal is considered against the 
principles of Policies DM9 (Design Principles) and DM11 (Traffic Management and 
Highway Safety) of the Surrey Heath Core Strategy & Development Management Policies 
2012 (CSDMP), the Western Urban Area Character Supplementary Planning Document 
(WUAC) and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The Residential Design 
Guide Supplementary Planning Document (RDG) was adopted in 2017 and therefore forms 
an additional material consideration in the determination of this application. The main 
issues to be determined are:

 Impact on character and trees;

 Impact on residential amenity;

 Impact on parking and highway safety;

 Impact on local infrastructure; and

 Other matters 

7.2 Impact on character and trees

7.2.1 Policy DM9 (Design Principles) seeks to promote high quality design that respects and 
enhances the local environment, paying particular regard to scale, materials, massing, bulk 
and density. The Western Urban Area Character Supplementary Planning Document 
(WUAC) reiterates achieving good design that respects and enhances character of the 
area as a key objective. The application site is within the "Historic Route - Lanes" character 
area as defined by the WUAC. This area is characterised by their narrow gravel roads, 
intense, small scale forms of development and a high number of buildings that date from 
Victorian or earlier periods.  All of the lanes have their origins in the Victorian era or earlier 
and most formerly provided access to a business or farm.  

Page 84



7.2.2 Guiding Principle L1 of the WUAC advises that within the "Historic Routes - Lanes" 
character area, development should have high quality architectural detailing and scale and 
massing in all development. Guiding Principle L3 advises that proposals that seek to 
introduce development that is out of keeping with the strong historic character of the Lanes 
will be resisted. Particular regard will be had to building scale and massing, roofscapes and 
architectural detailing, including materials. 

7.2.3 Principle 10.3 of the RDG advises that side extensions should remain sympathetic and 
subservient to main building and not project beyond the building line on the street. 
Important gaps between buildings should be maintained. A minimum gap of 1m between 
the building and the side boundary should normally be retained to provide for access and 
servicing. The proposed single storey side extension element would contain a crown roof 
form. However, this design approach would lead to the proposed maximum height being 
significantly lower than the ridge height of the host dwelling, and would allow for a hipped 
form to the side to reflect the form of the original dwelling. The proposed extension would 
also be set back approx. 0.7m from the adjoining front elevation, and the projecting width 
would be considerably less than half that of the original host dwelling.

7.2.4 It is therefore considered that the proposed side extension would respect the design of the 
original bungalow and would not form an over-dominant or incongruous addition. Although 
the side extension would be sited approx. 0.5m-0.8m from the side boundary, in the 
officer’s opinion a side extension with a higher ridge height of 4m could be built fully 
adjacent to this boundary under permitted development rights outside of the control of the 
local planning authority. In any event, the low single storey subservient form is considered 
sufficient to avoid a cramped appearance. On the other side, the proposed hipped pitched 
roof, above the existing side catslide roof to enclose the side porch, would match the height 
of the other proposed extension, to assist its integration. Given that part of the existing front 
elevation contains a render exterior, it is not considered that the proposed full render finish 
along the front elevation would lead to adverse harm to the character of the host dwelling 
and surrounding area. 

7.2.5 Principle 10.4 of the RDG advises that rear extensions should be sympathetic and 
subservient to the design of the main building. Eaves heights of single storey extensions 
should not exceed 3m within 2m of a side or rear boundary.  The proposed rear extension 
would not be widely visible from surrounding public vantage points. It is considered that the 
modest scale and depth would not lead to an overdominant relationship with the host 
dwelling. 

7.2.6 Policy DM9 of the CSDMP states that development will be acceptable where they protect 
trees and other vegetation worthy of retention and provide high quality hard and soft 
landscaping where appropriate. Guiding Principle L1 also requires new development to 
provide opportunities to soften the closely set buildings with vegetation and protection of 
hedgerows as boundaries. There is a line of trees proposed for retention along the rear 
garden side boundary with the Robert Way dwellings. These were surveyed under the tree 
report submitted under 18/0001 for the wider site redevelopment. Based on this, the 
proposed extensions would not fall within the root protection areas of these trees. It is 
however considered appropriate to impose a planning condition to ensure that the agreed 
tree protection fencing remains installed during the proposed works. The proposed revised 
landscaping would provide a repositioned boundary hedge along the front. This can also be 
protected by a landscaping condition. 

7.2.7 In light of all the above, it is considered that the proposed development as a whole would 
comply with the design requirements of Policy DM9 of the CSDMP and the relevant 
supporting guidance of the RDG and the WUAC.

Page 85



7.3 Impact on residential amenity

7.3.1 Policy DM9 (Design Principles) of the Surrey Heath Core Strategy and Development 
Management Policies Document 2012 requires that the amenities of the occupiers of the 
neighbouring properties and uses are respected. Principle 8.3 of the RDG advises that 
developments should not result in occupants of neighbouring dwellings suffering from a 
material loss of daylight and sun access. Paragraph 8.5 further advises that although there 
is no right to a view, residents should be able to enjoy good quality outlook to the external 
environment from habitable rooms, without adjacent buildings, walls, parked vehicles or 
storage materials being overbearing or visually intrusive.

7.3.2 The proposed side extension would be sited approx. 9m from the main rear elevation of the 
approved  two storey semi-detached Unit 2 facing Robert Way to the southwest, and 
would be sited approx. 10m from the adjoining inset elevation of Unit 1. Unit 2 benefits from 
a corner plot layout with noticeable garden space to its side as well as to its rear. It is 
considered that this layout, along with the parking area of Unit 2 sited in its rear garden in 
front of the proposed side extension, would mitigate adverse impact in terms of loss of 
outlook or overbearing impact. It is considered that the proposed separation distances, the 
site orientation and the existing juxtaposition between the dwellings would be sufficient to 
avoid adverse harm in terms of loss of light. A planning condition can be imposed to ensure 
that the proposed side WC room would be obscure-glazed with high-level opening. 

7.3.3 Principle 8.1 of the RDG SPD advises that developments which have a significant adverse 
effect on the privacy of neighbouring properties will be resisted. Paragraph 8.4 further 
advises that a minimum distance of 20m is a generally accepted guideline for there to be 
no material loss of privacy between the rear of two storey buildings directly facing each 
other (i.e. a back to back relationship). For two storey rear-to-side relationships it may be 
possible to reduce the separation distance to 15m.

7.3.4 The proposed rear extension would be sited approx. 3.6m from the rear garden boundary 
of the two storey semi-detached dwelling of No. 2 Robert Way to the southwest, and 
approx. 16m at an angle from its nearest rear elevation. The proposed secondary side 
elevation window would not directly face the elevations of this neighbour. These separation 
distances and built form relationships are considered sufficient to avoid adverse harm 
towards this neighbour in terms of loss of light, outlook, privacy or overbearing impact. 

7.3.5 The proposed rear extension would also contain a window on the other side facing Unit 4. 
However, it is considered that the single storey form and separation distance of approx. 8m 
to its rear garden side boundary would be sufficient to avoid loss of privacy, light, outlook or 
overbearing impact. The pitched roof above the existing side catslide roof would not be 
adjacent any primary ground floor windows of this neighbour. 

7.3.6 It is considered that the proposed development as a whole would be sited at sufficient 
distance from other neighbouring boundaries and elevations to avoid material harm to 
amenity.

7.3.7 In light of all the above, the proposal is considered to be in compliance with the amenity 
requirements of Policy DM9 of the CSDMP and the advice of the RDG SPD.

7.4 Impact on parking and highway safety

7.4.1 Policy DM11 (Traffic Management and Highway Safety) states that development which 
would adversely impact the safe and efficient flow of traffic movement on the highway 
network will not be supported by the Council, unless it can be demonstrated that measures 
to reduce such impacts to acceptable levels can be implemented.

Page 86



7.4.2 The proposal would not result in an increase in the number of existing bedrooms (three). 
The proposal includes a revised vehicular access located further to the southwest, 
replacing the approved double-width parking bay at the front with a single access to 
facilitate the side garage and a turning bay. This would still provide two off-street spaces as 
originally approved. The County Highway Authority has raised no objection, commenting 
that the proposal is unlikely to have a material impact on highway safety issues. As such, it 
is considered that this proposal would not have any detrimental impacts on parking or 
highway safety. 

7.5 Community Infrastructure Levy 

7.5.1 Surrey Heath's Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule was adopted by 
Full Council on the 16th July 2014 and the CIL Charging Schedule came into effect on the 
1st December 2014. Surrey Heath charges CIL on residential and retail developments 
where there is a net increase in floor area, however, as the proposal relates to a net 
increase in residential floor area less than 100 square metres the development is not CIL 
liable.  

7.6 Other matters

7.6.1 The Council's Scientific Officer has commented that the proposed development is on land 
that was historically used as a potteries and as such, there is the potential to discover 
contamination. The Scientific Officer has commented that whilst the developer is aware of 
this, it would be appropriate to impose a planning condition stating that if, prior to or during 
development, ground contamination is suspected or manifests itself, no further 
development shall be carried out until the developer has submitted an appropriate 
remediation strategy to the Local Planning Authority and the written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority has been received. The remediation strategy should detail how the 
contamination shall be managed and any agreed remediation verified. 

7.6.2 Concerns have been raised in respect of impact on flooding from loss of trees, and noise, 
dust and debris from construction works. The application site falls within an area of low 
flood risk (Zone 1). As such, the current proposed domestic extension would not require the 
provision of a flood risk assessment or drainage strategy. Any statutory noise nuisance can 
be reported to the Council’s Environmental Health Department for investigation. 
Construction works and hours of operation are controlled by Environmental Health 
legislation and an informative can be added in this regard.

8.0 CONCLUSION

8.1 The proposed scale and design of the extensions would respect the design of the original 
bungalow and would not form an over-dominant or incongruous addition. The low single 
storey subservient form is sufficient to avoid a cramped appearance. The proposed 
development would also be at sufficient distance from all surrounding boundaries and 
elevations to avoid adverse harm to residential amenity. Surrey County Highway Authority 
has raised no objection to the proposal, which would provide the same number of 
bedspaces and off-street parking spaces as approved under the wider redevelopment. The 
application is therefore recommended for approval. 

Page 87



9.0    WORKING IN A POSITIVE/PROACTIVE MANNER

9.1 In assessing this application, officers have worked with the applicant in a positive, proactive 
and creative manner consistent with the requirements of paragraphs 38-41 of the NPPF.  
This included:

a) Provided or made available pre application advice to seek to resolve problems 
before the application was submitted and to foster the delivery of sustainable 
development;

b) Provided feedback through the validation process including information on the 
website, to correct identified problems to ensure that the application was correct and 
could be registered.

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to the following conditions:-

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three years of the date of 
this permission.

Reason: To prevent an accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions and 
in accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by Section 51(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The proposed development shall be built in accordance with the following 
approved plans: 

Proposed site plan, roof plan, floor plan and elevations (Drawing No. 1369/P-301A 
- received on 07 August 2019), unless the prior written approval has been 
obtained from the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning and as 
advised in ID.17a of the Planning Practice Guidance.

3. The building works, hereby approved, shall be constructed in external fascia 
materials as stated in Section 5 of the application form received on 28 August 
2019.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to accord with 
Policy DM9 of the Surrey Heath Core Strategy and Development Management 
Policies 2012.

4. Before first occupation of the development hereby approved the ground floor WC 
window in the southwest side elevation facing Unit 1 shall be completed in obscure 
glazing and any opening shall be at high level only (greater than 1.7m above 
finished floor level) and retained as such at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities enjoyed by neighbouring residents and to 
accord with Policy DM9 of the Surrey Heath Core Strategy and Development 
Management Policies 2012.

Page 88



5. The tree protection measures as agreed under the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment and BS:5837 Tree Survey by Sapling Arboriculture Ltd, dated July 
2018 [Ref; J1045.03] and received on 23 July 2018 provided for SU/18/0001, shall 
be implemented and retained until completion of all works hereby permitted.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and to comply with Policy DM9 of the Surrey 
Heath Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 2012.

6. All hard and soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved proposed site plan. All plant material shall conform to BS3936:1992 
Parts 1 – 5: Specification for Nursery Stock. Handling, planting and 
establishment of trees shall be in accordance with BS 8545:2014 Trees: from 
nursery to independence in the landscape. Any trees or plants, which within a 
period of five years of commencement of any works in pursuance of the 
development die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced as soon as practicable with others of similar size and species, following 
consultation with the Local Planning Authority, unless the Local Planning Authority 
gives written consent to any variation.

Reason: To preserve and enhance the visual amenities of the locality in 
accordance with Policy DM9 of the Surrey Heath Core Strategy and Development 
Management Policies 2012.

7. A strategy for monitoring and reporting on ground conditions and actions to be 
taken should there be the discovery of contamination will be adopted. If, prior to or 
during development, ground contamination is suspected or manifests itself then no 
further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted an appropriate 
remediation strategy to the Local Planning Authority and the written approval of 
the Local Planning Authority has been received. The remediation strategy should 
detail how the contamination shall be managed and any agreed remediation 
verified. 

Reason: To comply with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 
paragraphs 120 & 121) which requires development to contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by preventing both new and existing 
development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from 
unacceptable levels of contamination.

Informative(s)

1. Discovery and Remediation Strategy Informative
In seeking to address and discharge the 'discovery' condition above, the 
applicant's attention is drawn to the fact that the application site is situated on or in 
close proximity to land that could be potentially contaminated by virtue of previous 
historical uses of the land. The applicant should contact the Councils Scientific 
Officer Garry Carter on 01276 707328 Garry.carter@surreyheath.gov.uk for further 
advice.

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



19/0665
24 Oct 2019

Planning Applications

LITTLE ROSEWARNE, POTTERIES LANE,
MYTCHETT, CAMBERLEY, GU16 6EX

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Surrey Heath Borough Council 100018679 2019

Application
number

Scale @ A4

Date

Address

Title

Author: DEVersion 4

single bay garage and single storey rear extensionProposal

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



19/0665 – LITTLE ROSEWARNE, 1 ROSEWARNE GARDENS, MYTCHETT, CAMBERLEY, 
GU16 6GT 

Location plan 

Page 93



19/0665 – LITTLE ROSEWARNE, 1 ROSEWARNE GARDENS, MYTCHETT, CAMBERLEY, 
GU16 6GT 

Existing site layout

Page 94



19/0665 – LITTLE ROSEWARNE, 1 ROSEWARNE GARDENS, MYTCHETT, CAMBERLEY, 
GU16 6GT 

Proposed site layout

Page 95



19/0665 – LITTLE ROSEWARNE, 1 ROSEWARNE GARDENS, MYTCHETT, CAMBERLEY, 
GU16 6GT 

Existing floor plans and elevations

 

Page 96



19/0665 – LITTLE ROSEWARNE, 1 ROSEWARNE GARDENS, MYTCHETT, CAMBERLEY, 
GU16 6GT 

Proposed floor plans and elevations

 

Page 97



19/0665 – LITTLE ROSEWARNE, 1 ROSEWARNE GARDENS, MYTCHETT, CAMBERLEY, 
GU16 6GT 

Site Pictures

Entrance from Coleford Close

Page 98



19/0665 – LITTLE ROSEWARNE, 1 ROSEWARNE GARDENS, MYTCHETT, CAMBERLEY, 
GU16 6GT 

Front elevation

Page 99



19/0665 – LITTLE ROSEWARNE, 1 ROSEWARNE GARDENS, MYTCHETT, CAMBERLEY, 
GU16 6GT 

Proposed side extension location

Rear garden

Page 100



19/0665 – LITTLE ROSEWARNE, 1 ROSEWARNE GARDENS, MYTCHETT, CAMBERLEY, 
GU16 6GT 

Surrounding new dwellings 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



2019/0660 Reg Date 06/08/2019 Chobham

LOCATION: 15 RED LION ROAD, CHOBHAM, WOKING, GU24 8RG
PROPOSAL: Retrospective Planning Application for the formation of a new 

brickwork boundary wall.
TYPE: Full Planning Application
APPLICANT: Mr Mater

Admiral Taverns
OFFICER: Patricia Terceiro

This application would normally be determined under the Council's Scheme of 
Delegation. However, it is being reported to the Planning Applications Committee at 
the request of Cllr Tedder, due to concerns over the proposal’s impact on the 
character of the area. 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT subject to conditions

1.0  SUMMARY  

1.1 The application site currently comprises a public house and this proposal seeks 
retrospective planning consent for the erection of a buff sandstone brick wall, measuring 
1.5m in maximum height on its easternmost section, where the land levels drop. It is a 
material consideration that a wall to a maximum height of 1m could be erected on this 
location under the current permitted development rights which, in addition, do not restrict 
the materials.

1.2 The proposal is not considered to have an adverse impact on local character, residential 
amenity and highway safety and is therefore recommended for approval.

2.0  SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1 The Red Lion is a public house located within the settlement of Chobham. The property 
benefits from a beer garden to the site which is laid to lawn and contains tables providing 
for outside seating area. The property’s frontage is laid to hardstanding and also contains 
tables. Vehicle parking is provided to the rear of the building and is laid to hardstanding. 
There are level changes in the area, with the land sloping up from the road towards the 
rear of the application site. 

2.2 The previous boundary treatment to the front consisted of a 0.6m high picket fence, small 
length of brick wall and hedging. The picket fence and brick wall have been replaced by a 
brick wall. 

Page 103

Agenda Item 6 



3.0  RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1 19/0030 Erection of a rear extension to expand seating area, erection of a side 
extension to form sheltered smoking area with associated alterations to 
existing public house and erection of a new front wall with associated works. 
Approved, 2019. 

[Officer note: the wall that is subject to this application has not been built in 
accordance with the plans approved under this application]. 

4.0  THE PROPOSAL

4.1 Retrospective planning application is sought for the formation of a new brickwork boundary 
wall built not in accordance with Planning Approval reference 19/0030 (wall constructed in 
materials and height not as detailed on the approved drawings). 

4.2 Application 19/0030 approved a red brick wall with piers to a maximum height of 1.2m. 
However, the wall has been constructed in buff sandstone bricks with one course of red 
bricks above, with a height ranging from 0.9m to 1.5m due to the level changes on site. In 
terms of length, the wall measures approximately 15.2m to the front boundary (including a 
1.7m opening) and 3m to the side boundary.   

5.0  CONSULTATION RESPONSES

5.1 Surrey County Highway 
Authority

No objections

5.2 Chobham Parish Council Objects to the proposal on the following grounds:

 The development fails to respect the local character 
and streetscene due to the use of visually prominent 
materials;

 The wall is an unnecessarily incongruous feature and 
has a detrimental effect on the character and setting of 
the Red Lion public house. 

6.0  REPRESENTATION

6.1 At the time of preparation of this report no written representations have been received.

7.0  PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 The application site is located in a residential area within a defined settlement, as set out in 
the Proposals Map of the Surrey Heath Core Strategy and Development Management 
Policies 2012 (CSDMP). In this case, consideration is given to Policies DM9 and DM11 of 
the CSDMP. The Residential Design Guide (RDG) SPD 2017.

Page 104



7.2 The main issues to be considered within this application are:

 Impact on character and appearance of the surrounding area.

 Residential amenity.

 Highways considerations.

7.3 Impact on character of area

7.3.1 Policy DM9 of the Surrey Heath Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 
Document (CSDMP) 2012 promotes high quality design. Development should respect and 
enhance the character of the local environment and be appropriate in scale, materials, 
massing, bulk and density. 

7.3.2 The proposed enclosure is widely visible from public vantage points along Red Lion Road 
and the road directly to the west of the site, as it is located in a corner plot. The site’s 
vicinity is residential in nature and these properties contain some form of boundary 
treatment, ranging from hedging only to a combination of low height hard boundary 
treatments with planting. 

7.3.3 The previously agreed brick wall along the site’s front and side boundaries was in red brick 
and limited to 1.2m in height. The submitted plans for this current application show that the 
wall was built to a maximum height of 1.5m and in buff sandstone brick. This current 
proposal therefore comprises a wall about 0.3m higher than the previously approved 
structure and it is noted that this would be limited to the eastern-most section of the front 
elevation, where the land slopes slightly down. Furthermore, the wall to the side elevation 
remains as previously approved in terms of height. Weight is also afforded to the current 
permitted development rights, where a wall facing a highway can be erected up to 1m. In 
light of the above the proposal’s height is considered acceptable. 

7.3.4 In respect of the materials, the streetscene is varied, as there are examples of off-white 
render, pebble dash, sandstone, red and off-brown bricks. For example, the neighbouring 
property at no 13 Red Lion Road has identical brickwork on its flank elevation, which is 
also visible within the streetscene of Red Lion Road. As such, the use of buff sandstone 
bricks is considered to sufficiently integrate into the surrounding context. 

7.3.5 In conclusion, the scale of the proposal is considered to reflect the character of the site as 
a public house. Furthermore, the hedge that encloses the beer garden, in combination with 
the opening on the wall to provide for pedestrian access to the pub avoid the creation of a 
long length of unrelieved hard boundary to the front. 

7.3.6 Concerns have been raised regarding the proposal’s impact on the character and setting of 
the Red Lion public house. However, it is noted that the site does not fall within a 
Conservation Area and the building is not listed (either locally or nationally). As such, the 
wall does not adversely affect the character and appearance of the surrounding area and is 
in accordance with Policy DM9 of the CSDMP.

7.4 Impact on residential amenity

7.4.1 Policy DM9 of the CSDMP 2012 states that development should respect the amenities of 
the adjoining properties and uses. 

Page 105



7.4.2 Due to the relationship between the wall and the adjoining properties, it is not considered 
that the development causes a negative impact on the amenities of the occupiers of the 
neighbouring dwellings in terms of overlooking, overshadowing or overbearing.

7.4.4 As such, the proposal does not affect the residential amenities of the neighbouring 
properties and is in accordance with Policy DM9 of the CSDMP.

7.5 Parking and access

7.5.1 Policy DM11 states that development which would adversely impact the safe and efficient 
flow of traffic movement on the highway network will not be supported by the Council, 
unless it can be demonstrated that measures to reduce such impacts to acceptable levels 
can be implemented.

7.5.2 The County Highway Authority has undertaken an assessment in terms of the likely net 
additional traffic generation, access arrangements and parking provision and are satisfied 
that the proposal does not have a material impact on the safety and operation of the 
adjoining public highway. 

7.5.3 The proposal is therefore in line with Policy DM11 of the CSDMP.

7.6 Other matters

7.6.1 Due to the nature of the development, the proposal would not be CIL liable. 

8.0 WORKING IN A POSITIVE/PROACTIVE MANNER

In assessing this application, officers have worked with the applicant in a positive, creative 
and proactive manner consistent with the requirements of paragraphs 38 to 41 of the 
NPPF.  This included 1 or more of the following:

a) Provided feedback through the validation process including information on the website, 
to correct identified problems to ensure that the application was correct and could be 
registered.

b) Have proactively communicated with the applicant through the process to advise 
progress, timescale or recommendation.

9.0  CONCLUSION

9.1 It is considered that the proposed development does not result in an adverse impact on 
the character and appearance of the surrounding area, nor on residential amenities and 
highways. Therefore, the proposal complies with Policies DM9 and DM11 of the CSDMP 
and the application is therefore recommended for approval. 

Page 106



RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to the following conditions:-

1. The proposed development shall be retained at all times in accordance with the 
following approved plans, unless the prior written approval has been obtained from 
the Local Planning Authority.

 Drawing no 1003/103 – proposed external elevations, received 5 August 
2019.

 Drawing no 1003/01 - proposed layout, received 5 August 2019.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning and as 
advised in ID.17a of the Planning Practice Guidance.

Informative(s)

1. Decision Notice to be kept DS1

2. The decision has been taken in compliance with paragraphs 38-41 of the NPPF to 
work with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner. 

 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



19/0660
24 Oct 2019

Planning Applications

15 RED LION ROAD, CHOBHAM, WOKING, GU24
8RG

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Surrey Heath Borough Council 100018679 2019

Application
number

Scale @ A4

Date

Address

Title

Author: DEVersion 4

Retrospective Planning Application for the
formation of a new brickwork boundary wall built

not in accordance with Planning Approval
reference 19/0030. (Wall constructed in materials

& height not as detailed on the approved
drawings)

Proposal

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



19/0660 – 15 RED LION ROAD, CHOBHAM, WOKING, GU24 8RG

Location plan 

Existing Elevations

Side Elevation Rear Elevation

Side Elevation Front Elevation

Page 111



19/0660 – 15 RED LION ROAD, CHOBHAM, WOKING, GU24 8RG

Proposed Elevations

Site Photos: Front elevation

 

Side Elevation

Side Elevation

Front Elevation

Page 112



APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION & RELATED APPLICATIONS FOR 
CONSIDERATION BY THE PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE

NOTES

Officers Report

Officers have prepared a report for each planning or related application on the  Planning 
Committee Index which details:-

 Site Description
 Relevant Planning History
 The Proposal
 Consultation Responses/Representations
 Planning Considerations
 Conclusion

Each report also includes a recommendation to either approve or refuse the application.  
Recommended reason(s) for refusal or condition(s) of approval and reason(s) including 
informatives are set out in full in the report.

How the Committee makes a decision:

The Planning Applications Committee’s decision on an application can be based only on 
planning issues.  These include:

 Legislation, including national planning policy guidance and statements.
 Policies in the adopted Surrey Heath Local Plan and emerging Local Development 

Framework, including Supplementary Planning Documents.
 Sustainability issues.
 Layout and design issues, including the effect on the street or area (but not loss of 

private views).
 Impacts on countryside openness.
 Effect on residential amenities, through loss of light, overlooking or noise 

disturbance.
 Road safety and traffic issues.
 Impacts on historic buildings.
 Public opinion, where it raises relevant planning issues.

The Committee cannot base decisions on:

 Matters controlled through other legislation, such as Building Regulations e.g. 
structural stability, fire precautions.

 Loss of property value.
 Loss of views across adjoining land.
 Disturbance from construction work.
 Competition e.g. from a similar retailer or business.
 Moral issues.
 Need for development or perceived lack of a need (unless specified in the report).
 Private issues between neighbours i.e. boundary disputes, private rights of way.  The 

issue of covenants has no role in the decision to be made on planning applications.

Reports will often refer to specific use classes.  The Town & Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order 1995 (as amended) is summarised for information below:

Page 113

Agenda Annex



A1. Shops Shops, retail warehouses, hairdressers, 
undertakers, travel and ticket agencies, post 
offices, pet shops, sandwich bars, showrooms, 
domestic hire shops and funeral directors.

A2. Financial & professional
Services

Banks, building societies, estate and
employment agencies, professional and financial 
services and betting offices.

A3. Restaurants and Cafes For the sale of food and drink for consumption on 
the premises – restaurants, snack bars and 
cafes.

A4. Drinking Establishments Public houses, wine bars or other drinking 
establishments (but not nightclubs).

A5. Hot Food Takeaways For the sale of hot food consumption off the 
premises.   

B1. Business Offices, research and development, light industry 
appropriate to a residential area.                                                              

B2. General Industrial Use for the carrying on of an industrial process 
other than one falling within class B1 above.

B8. Storage or Distribution Use for the storage or as a distribution centre 
including open air storage.

C1. Hotels Hotels, board and guest houses where, in each 
case no significant element of care is provided.

C2. Residential Institutions Residential care homes, hospitals, nursing 
homes, boarding schools, residential colleges 
and training centres.

C2A. Secure Residential 
Institutions

Use for a provision of secure residential 
accommodation, including use as a prison, young 
offenders institution, detention centre, secure 
training centre, custody centre, short term holding 
centre, secure hospital, secure local authority 
accommodation or use as a military barracks.

C3. Dwelling houses Family houses or houses occupied by up to six 
residents living together as a single household, 
including a household where care is provided for 
residents.

C4. Houses in Multiple 
Occupation

Small shared dwelling houses occupied by 
between three and six unrelated individuals, as 
their only or main residence, who share basic 
amenities such as a kitchen or bathroom.

D1. Non-residential 
Institutions

Clinics, health centres, crèches, day nurseries, 
day centres, school, art galleries, museums, 
libraries, halls, places of worship, church halls, 
law courts. Non-residential education and training 
areas.

D2. Assembly & Leisure Cinemas, music and concert halls, bingo and 
dance halls (but not nightclubs), swimming baths, 
skating rinks, gymnasiums or sports 
arenas (except for motor sports, or where 
firearms are used).

Sui Generis Theatres, houses in multiple paying occupation, 
hostels providing no significant element of care, 
scrap yards, garden centres, petrol filling stations 
and shops selling and/or 
displaying motor vehicles, retail warehouse clubs, 
nightclubs, laundrettes, dry cleaners, taxi 
businesses, amusement centres and casinos.

Page 114


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	4 Southampton to London Pipeline Development Consent Order
	4b. Southampton to London Pipeline Development Consent Order - Annex 1
	4c. Southampton to London Pipeline Development Consent Order - Annex 2

	5 Application Number: 19/0665 - Little Rosewarne, 1 Rosewarne Gardens, Mytchett, Camberley, GU16 6GT
	5b. 19/0665 - Little Rosewarne, 1 Rosewarne Gardens, Mytchett, Camberley, GU16 6GT - GIS Map
	5c. 19/0665 - Little Rosewarne, 1 Rosewarne Gardens, Mytchett, Camberley, GU16 6GT - PAC Plans

	6 Application Number: 19/0660 - 15 Red Lion Road, Chobham, Woking, GU24 8RG
	6b. 19/0660 - 15 Red Lion Road, Chobham, Woking, GU24 8RG - GIS Map
	6c. 19/0660 - 15 Red Lion Road, Chobham, Woking, GU24 8RG - PAC Plans

	 Glossary

